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Financial Highlights 
 

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating Results

Revenue 1,961,704 283,398

Gross profit 76,482 16,038

Operation loss (233,703) (888)

Financial Performance

Loss attributable to owners of the Company (233,703) (888)

Loss per share (HK cents)

– Basic and dilute (13.79) (0.05)

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial Position at Year End

Net current assets 408,294 622,447

Total assets 534,434 738,626

Total bank borrowings – 7,165

Total liabilities 97,729 68,093

Net assets 436,705 670,533

Net asset value per share (HK$) 0.26 0.40

Financial Highlights
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in sale of electronic component products (the “Electronic Component Business”) and 

health-care products (the “Health-care Business”).

ELECTRONIC COMPONENT BUSINESS

The Group offers a wide spectrum of electronic components, including: (i) NAND flash wafer (a thin slice of semiconductor 

material, such as silicon, which is a vital component of flash memory integrated circuits (ICs)); (ii) embed multi-chip 

package (eMCP) memory (an electronic component containing several memory chips); and (iii) central processing units 

(CPU).

With a group of experienced management team and professionals in the electronic components industry, the Group was 

able to source the electronic components in bulk from the upstream distributors, and to assist customers in selecting the 

most suitable electronic components by not only selling the products but also to provide value-added services to enhance 

customers experience and convenience, such as warehouse and quality control services for the customers to satisfy 

customers’ specific needs.

During the Year, the Group, as a purchaser, entered into a master sale and purchase agreement (the “Master Agreement”) 

in relation to the purchase of electronic components with a supplier (the “Supplier”) which is one of the largest trading 

companies in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the Group was able to have a steady source of electronic 

components from the Supplier.

The Group recorded an increase in the revenue by approximately 592.2% for the Year compared to that of the year 

ended 31 December 2021 (the “Prior Year”). Approximately 99.5% of the revenue of the Year was generated from sale of 

electronic components.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had inventories at cost of approximately HK$1,876.0 million, while over 98% of which 

were semi-conductors including wafers and memory chips. The prices of semi-conductors, especially memory chips, 

peaked during the early stage of the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic due to strong demand for technology products, and 

they began falling in late 2021. With the reasons of macroeconomic woes and rising interest rates collided with geopolitical 

uncertainties due to the Russia-Ukraine war, China’s prolonged implementation of static management to combat the 

outbreak of COVID-19, and the demand for smartphones and personal computers significantly decreased in 2022, 

the semiconductor industry had undergone a significant slowdown in the second half of 2022 and the prices of semi-

conductors continued to decline and slumped in the last quarter of 2022, which dropped over 20 to 30%.

The Group keeps track of the latest market demand and supply trend and will continue to optimise its product mix in order 

to cope with the downward pressure of weakening market demand.

Management Discussion and Analysis
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HEALTH-CARE BUSINESS

The Group is primarily engaged in sourcing and wholesale of health-care products, which includes healthy drinks products 

and medical consumables.

During the Year, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, travel restrictions and unstable flight supply, all these matters have 

hindered the Group from visiting overseas to conduct physical inspection and to source the health-care products, which 

adversely affected the business operations of our Health-care Business. In addition, the pandemic has altered people’s 

consumption behaviours, to prioritise essential spending and cut back on non-essential spending, resulting in decrease in 

demand in the health-care products. Accordingly, there was a slowdown in the Health-care Business during the Year. Only 

0.5% of the revenue of the Year was generated from sales of health-care products and food, which includes healthy drinks 

products and medical consumables, amounting approximately HK$9.5 million for the Year.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group has been actively developing both the Electronic Component Business and Health-care Business by continuing 

to diversify its product range and customer base and further explore business opportunities and possible collaborations 

with players in the industry to leverage on the Group’s established experience.

Despite the fact that focus being shifted to the Electronic Component Business during the Year, the Group has been 

actively developing the Health-care Business by continuing to diversify its product range and customer base and further 

exploring business opportunities and possible collaborations with players in the same industry. Based on the Directors’ 

experience, network and judgement in the Health-care Business, the Directors have been actively exploring different 

opportunities to expand the Health-care Business by the following means:

(I) POTENTIAL COLLABORATION WITH AN ESTABLISHED ONLINE AND OFFLINE RETAIL PLATFORM

The Group is currently negotiating on the possibility of collaboration (the “Collaboration”) with retail platforms in 

both Hong Kong and PRC (the “Retail Platform”) to supply health-care products, including health-care products 

from China, Taiwan and Malaysia. The negotiation is still at a preliminary stage and the Group has not yet entered 

into any formal agreement with the Retail Platform in relation to the Collaboration. In the event that the Collaboration 

materialises, the Group is expected to leverage on the well-recognised sales channel of the Retail Platform and to 

further promote the Group’s brand and its business to other potential customer(s).

(II) POSSIBLE INVESTMENT OPPORTUNITY

The Group is currently in the progress of liaising and negotiating with potential business partner to explore a potential 

investment in a food processing and raw material extraction factory in Taiwan and the PRC, which engages in the 

processing and manufacturing of health-care products. The Group also plans to set up branch office(s) in the PRC 

and Taiwan, in order to expand its business coverage. In the event that the investment materialises in the future, the 

Group would be able to create synergy between such factory and the Group where the Group can obtain information 

regarding manufacturing of the relevant health-care products to have a more in depth understanding of the market 

trend from the perspective of supplier along the value-chain of the health-care products industry; and on the other 

hand, the Group would also provide information regarding downstream demand and sales to such factory so that the 

health-care products manufactured would be of quality and more consumer-oriented.
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(III) SOURCING OF NEW HIGH QUALITY PRODUCTS

In order to diversify the Group’s product portfolios and to source different kinds of new high-quality products, the 

Group has been conducting site visits to manufacturers of health-care supplements and medical consumables in the 

PRC, Taiwan and Thailand to explore the feasibility of sourcing new products and establishing authorised distributor 

relationship with manufacturers.

Going forward, the Group also plans to expand the Electronic Component Business by (i) investing in some factories in the 

PRC in order to provide additional value-added services, including additional support, modification, assembly, packaging 

and testing services in order to suit the customers’ respective needs after purchasing the products; (ii) recruiting additional 

engineers, sales and marketing personnel with relevant technical background and administration personnel, where such 

recruitment of additional staff will be implemented in stages in line with the progress of the development of the Electronic 

Component Business; and (iii) obtaining additional authorised distributorship with other upstream manufacturers so as to 

further expand its product portfolio and improve its profitability.

Despite of the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions in Mainland China in late December 2022, the persistent outbreaks 

of the pandemic caused lockdowns and stringent quarantine measures across different cities in PRC during the Year 

adversely affected the pace and progress of the projects, especially in Health-care Business sector, of the Group. 

However, the Group remains cautiously optimistic about the long-term development in the business in Hong Kong. The 

Group has been actively looking to diversify the revenue sources of the Group in order to create shareholders’ value 

through making investments and/or acquiring business or projects that have promising outlooks and prospects.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

REVENUE AND GROSS PROFIT

For the Year, the Group’s revenue increased by approximately 592.2% to approximately HK$1,961.7 million, compared 

with approximately HK$283.4 million for the Prior Year. Approximately 99.5% of the revenue of the Year was generated 

from Electronic Component Business and approximately 0.5% of the revenue of the Year was generated from Health-care 

Business.

With the better performance and growth potential in the Electronic Component Business (with the gross profit of 

approximately HK$76.2 million for the Year), the Group has shifted its resources and focus from the Health-care Business 

to the Electronic Component Business in the Year, in order to maximise the Company’s shareholders’ profits.

Gross profit increased by approximately 376.9% to approximately HK$76.5 million in Year from approximately HK$16.0 

million in Prior Year, while the gross profit margin gently decreased from approximately 5.7% in Prior Year to 3.9% in Year.

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

Other losses for the Year mainly consists of net of (i) provision for inventory of approximately HK$238.0 million (2021: 

approximately HK$11.4 million); (ii) provision for onerous contracts of approximately HK$93.2 million (2021: nil); and (iii) gain 

on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$21.9 million (2021: approximately HK$14.3 million).
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PROVISION FOR INVENTORY

The inventory of the Group were mainly semi-conductors including wafers and memory chips and the inventories are 
measured at lower of cost and net realizable value. The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business less the estimated costs to be incurred for each product of the Group. Once the carrying amount of the 
inventories is higher than their net realisable value, a provision for inventories would be made so that the carrying amount 
of the inventories would not be higher than their net realisable value.

With the market price of the semi-conductors slumped in the last quarter of Year with over 30%, the expected net 
realisable value of the inventory as at 31 December 2022 decreased accordingly. The Group determined net realisable 
value of the inventories based on the (i) latest market price of each inventory; and (ii) selling price of the inventories 
based on the orders received by the Group subsequent to 31 December 2022; less the estimated costs to be incurred, 
which was determined based on the Group’s historical experience of sale of similar products. As such, one off provision 
for inventory with approximately HK$238.0 million was recorded in the “other (losses)/gains, net” for the Year, being the 
differences between the net realizable value and the carrying amount of the inventories as at 31 December 2022.

PROVISION FOR ONEROUS CONTRACTS 

An onerous contract is considered to exist once a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations 
under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

During the Year, the Group has placed purchase orders with the Supplier to purchase electronic components products in 
its ordinary and usual course of business from time to time, while the Group is also required to pay 20% of the purchase 
price of the products within three business days after each purchase order is placed (“Deposits”). There were several 
purchase orders which the Group placed with the Supplier remained unfulfilled subsequent to the end of the reporting 
period (“Unfulfilled POs”). With the market price of the semi-conductors slumped in last quarter of 2022, the Group noted 
that contracted purchase unit price of the products purchased under the Unfulfilled POs is higher than the estimated 
economic benefits of the ordered products under the Unfulfilled POs expected to be received by the Group. After reviewing 
the latest realisation plan of the Deposits against the Group’s business plan, and checking the utilisation of the Deposits 
against the inventories procured subsequent to the end of the reporting period, an one off provision for onerous contracts 
of approximately HK$93.2 million was recognized during the Year accordingly to Hong Kong Accounting Standard 37, 
being the difference between the economic benefits of the ordered products expected to be received by the Group by 
reference to the latest market price and subsequent selling price of the ordered products available to the Group, and the 
purchase price and quantities committed in the relevant purchase orders.
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Having considered that (i) it is in the ordinary and usual course of business for the Group to place purchase orders with its 
suppliers and re-sell the same to the Group’s customers; (ii) the terms and conditions of the purchase order placed with 
the Supplier as well as the Group’s other suppliers are in line with the industry norm; and (iii) the Group had been able to 
re-sell the electronic components products purchased from the its suppliers to its customers since the commencement of 
the electronic components business in 2019 and during the Year in general to prove that there was genuine demand in the 
electronic components products that the Group purchased, the Directors are of the view that:

(a) it is commercially reasonable for the Group to place purchase orders with the suppliers, including the Supplier;

(b) the terms and conditions of the purchase orders with the Group’s suppliers are fair and reasonable;

(c) it is in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole for procuring electronic components products 
either in bulk or back-to-back basis; and

(d) the Directors have generally fulfilled their obligations to safeguard the Group’s assets.

RESULTS

Overall, the Group recorded a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$233.7 million, as compared 

with that of approximately HK$0.9 million in the Prior Year.

WORKING CAPITAL AND INVENTORY MANAGEMENT

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total current assets of approximately HK$505.5 million (2021: approximately 

HK$690.5 million) and total current liabilities of approximately HK$97.2 million (2021: approximately HK$68.1 million). The 

current ratio of the Group, calculated by dividing the total current assets by the total current liabilities, was approximately 

5.2 times as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately 10.1 times).

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s total assets amounted to approximately HK$534.4 million (2021: approximately 

HK$738.6 million). The Group’s gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of total liabilities of approximately HK$97.7 million 

(2021: approximately HK$68.1 million) divided by total assets, was at a low level of about 5.5% (2021: 10.8%).

At 31 December 2022, the equity attributable to owners of the Company amounted to approximately HK$436.7 million 

(2021: approximately HK$670.5 million) and was equivalent to an amount of approximately HK0.3 cents (2021: HK0.4 

cents) per share of the Company. The decrease in equity attributable to owners of the Company of HK$233.8 million was 

mainly due to loss incurred during the Year.

INVENTORIES

The decrease in inventories by approximately 16.4% to approximately HK$380.5 million (net of the provision for inventory 

of  approximately HK$252.9 million) as at 31 December 2022, as compared to that of approximately HK$455.1 million (net 

of the provision for inventory of  approximately HK$14.9 million) as at 31 December 2021.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES

The trade receivables, net of loss allowances decreased by approximately 97.6% to approximately HK$2.5 million as 

at 31 December 2022, as compared with approximately HK$104.9 million as at 31 December 2021. During the Year, a 

reversal of loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables of approximately HK$16.9 million (2021: nil) 

was recognized. The management usually estimates the provision using a matrix based on the Group’s historical credit 

loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast 

general economic conditions at the reporting date. The management of the Group regularly evaluates the Group’s 

customers, assesses their known financial position and the credit risks.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, BORROWINGS, CAPITAL STRUCTURE, EXPOSURES TO 
FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND OTHERS

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The principal sources of funds for the Group are through internally generated cash flows. As at 31 December 2022, cash 

and cash equivalents of the Group amounted to approximately HK$1.6 million (2021: approximately HK$2.5 million). As at 

31 December 2022, the Group did not have any borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group faces foreign exchange risk as certain cash and cash equivalents are denominated in foreign currencies. 

The reporting currency is Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and the purchases of inventories are mainly made in United States 

dollars (“USD”) and Reminbi (“RMB”). As a result, the Group incurred transactional and translational foreign currency 

gains or losses from its operations. For the Year, the Group incurred a gain of foreign exchange differences amounted 

to approximately HK$1.1 million (2021: approximately HK$1.3 million). The Board will continuously monitor the foreign 

exchange exposure and will consider hedging of foreign currency risk should the need arise.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, we had a total of 15 employees. The Company determines employee salaries based on 

each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. Our Group has established an annual review system to assess 

the performance of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and 

promotions.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Board after recommendation from the remuneration committee of the 

Company, having considered the factors such as the Group’s financial performance, the achievement of special targets 

and the individual performance of the Directors, etc..

Apart from mandatory provident fund and medical insurance, the Company has adopted a share option scheme under 

which share options may also be awarded to the Directors and eligible employees as an incentive with reference to the 

assessment of individual performance. The Board believes that the Group maintains an admirable relationship with the 

employees.
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DIRECTORS

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. HUANG GUANCHAO

Non-executive Director, aged 48

Mr. Huang was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April 2019 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director 

on 17 July 2019. Mr. Huang is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Huang has over 20 years of 

management experience in international trading and distribution of electronic components. From 1999 to 2003, Mr. Huang, 

on his own, operated an electronic components trading company. Subsequently in 2003, Mr. Huang, together with other 

business partners, founded a Hong Kong-based global electronic components trading and distribution group (the “Trading 

and Distribution Group”), which supplies electronic components to customers including sizeable manufacturing groups 

and technology companies. Since the establishment of the Trading and Distribution Group, Mr. Huang has been its chief 

executive officer, managing its business with presence in Hong Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the 

Southeast Asia. In 2005, Mr. Huang, together with other business partners, established another manufacturing and trading 

group, which is principally engaged in the manufacturing of semi-conductor products of a well-known brand that are sold 

to different markets including Hong Kong, the PRC, Taiwan and other Asian countries. Mr. Huang has been the standing 

director of Shenzhen Chao Shan Chamber of Commerce since December 2011.

MR. LIM TZEA

Non-executive Director, aged 55

Mr. Lim was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April 2019 and was re-designated as a non-executive Director on 

17 July 2019. Mr. Lim is also a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Lim has over 22 years of management 

experience in international trading and distribution of electronic components. From 1997 to 2002, Mr. Lim was the general 

manager of an electronic components trading company based in Singapore, mainly responsible for such company’s trading 

business in various Southeast Asian countries. Mr. Lim was the general manager of another Singapore based electronic 

components trading company from 2003 to 2008, mainly responsible for managing and supervising such company’s 

operations in respect of its trading business in Hong Kong and the PRC. Since 2009, Mr. Lim has been one of the key 

management personnel and one of the shareholders of an international trading company based in Singapore, being 

responsible for the management of the company’s trading business in Singapore, Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam.

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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MR. CHEN KAIBEN

Non-executive Director, aged 37

Mr. Chen was appointed as a non-executive Director on 3 September 2021. Mr. Chen graduated from Guangdong 

University of Foreign Studies with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in logistics and supply chain management 

in 2007. He has extensive experience in the logistics, securities and financial industries. Mr. Chen served as an executive 

director of Solis Holdings Limited (stock code: 2227), a company that the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of 

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) for the period from October 2020 to August 2021. Mr. 

Chen was appointed as a non-executive director of Glory Sun Financial Group Limited (stock code: 1282) and Glory Sun 

Land Group Limited (stock code: 299) for the periods from November 2018 to August 2019 and from December 2018 to 

May 2019 respectively. The shares of Solis Holdings Limited, Glory Sun Financial Group Limited and Glory Sun Land Group 

Limited are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From March 2016 to February 2018, he served as the deputy 

director of the operations management department of Shenzhen Bao Da Financial Services Co., Ltd.（深圳寶達金融服務
有限公司）and in March 2018, he has been re-designated as the deputy director of the financial and securities department. 

From June 2012 to March 2016, he respectively served as the supervisor, manager assistant of the securities department 

and representative of securities affairs of Dasheng Times Cultural Investment Co., Ltd.（大晟時代文化投資股份有限公
司）(formerly known as Baocheng Investment Co., Ltd.（寶誠投資股份有限公司）), the shares of which are listed on the 

Shanghai Stock Exchange under the stock code of 600892.

MR. CHEN QI

Non-executive Director, aged 32

Mr. Chen was appointed as a non-executive Director on 3 September 2021. Mr. Chen graduated from Yunnan University of 

Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in finance management in 2015. Between July 2015 and August 2017, 

he was an operation management specialist in the strategic development department of Yunnan Energy Finance Holdings 

Investments Company Limited（雲南能源金融控股投資有限公司）. He subsequently became an operation management 

specialist in the operational management department of Yunnan Energy Investment (HK) Co. Limited（香港雲能國際投資
有限公司）as well as an investment manager in Yunnan Energy International Investment (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.（雲能國際
（新加坡）有限公司）between August 2017 and June 2020. Since June 2020, Mr. Chen Qi has worked as the vice general 

manager of operational management department of Yunnan Energy Investment (HK) Co. Limited.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MR. CHEN LI KUANG

Executive Director, aged 47 

Mr. Chen was appointed as an executive Director on 1 April 2022. Mr. Chen has over 20 years of management experience 

in sales and distribution of electronic components and products. Mr. Chen had worked for several international technology 

companies in Taiwan and was primarily responsible for products management, marketing development and procurements. 

Mr. Chen graduated from the Jinwen University of Science and Technology with the diploma in bank and insurance.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MR. LI WEI

Independent non-executive Director, aged 68

Mr. Li Wei was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 17 May 2016. Mr. Li has over 25 years of 

experience in establishing and operating businesses in Asia, and particularly in Hong Kong and China. He was educated in 

China, Germany and Australia. He has been an independent non-executive director of VST Holdings Limited, a company 

whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 856) since 2007.

MR. YUEN CHEE LAP CARL

Independent non-executive Director, aged 49

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 29 February 2016. Mr. Yuen 

graduated from the University of Houston, U.S. He attained a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in business 

administration in 1997 and 1998 respectively. Mr. Yuen is currently the chief executive officer and the financial controller of 

Courage Investment Group Limited (stock code: 1145), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and 

the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. He has rich experience in finance and accounting in Hong Kong and 

the United States. Mr. Yuen commenced his career in the United States and served as chief accountant and managerial 

position in several companies between 1998 and 2003. Mr. Yuen joined Courage Investment Group Limited in 2004 and 

has been appointed as financial controller since May 2006. Mr. Yuen has taken up the additional role as chief executive 

officer in September 2019. He is responsible for the company’s overall operations, and is in charge of the company’s 

finance and accounting control as well as the company’s reporting, SGX-ST and Stock Exchange compliance. Mr. Yuen 

is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the Association of Hong Kong Accountants. Mr. Yuen 

was an independent non-executive director of Fullsun International Holdings Group Co., Limited (stock code: 627) from 

1 December 2017 to 22 January 2021, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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MR. LEUNG CHUN TUNG

Independent Non-Executive Director, aged 68

Mr. Leung was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 1 March 2022. Mr. Leung had previously worked 

for Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock code: 2388), for 39 years. 

Mr. Leung’s last position in Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited was senior corporate loan manager, and was mainly 

responsible for the development and maintenance of industrial and commercial customers, credit risk assessment, credit 

management and administrative management. He possesses an executive master degree in business administrations 

jointly from Sun Yat-sen Business School and International East-West University.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MS. YIP TAK YUNG TERESA

Chief financial officer and company secretary, aged 41

Ms. Yip Tak Yung, Teresa joined the Group in 2013, and is responsible for finance management, compliance assurance 

and company secretarial matters of the Group. Ms. Yip has rich experience in areas of auditing, accounting, taxation, 

capital markets, business advisory and corporate finance in Hong Kong and the PRC. She worked at Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu and graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree of business administration (Honours) 

in accountancy. Ms. Yip is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Board is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance to safeguard the interest of the Company’s 

shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability. For the Year, the Company applied the principles and 

complied with the applicable code provisions of the corporate governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 

14 to the Listing Rules. 

The Group also has in place an internal control system to perform the checks and balance function. There are also three 

independent non-executive Directors on the Board offering strong, independent and differing perspectives. The Board is 

therefore of the view that there are adequate balance-of-power and safeguards in place to enable the Company to make 

and implement decisions promptly and effectively.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognises that a good corporate culture is vital to its corporate governance and has gradually developed a 

pragmatic and prudent corporate culture since its establishment, which has been reflected in the overall operations and 

management of the Group, in order to facilitate the long-term sustainability of the Group. The Group is committed to 

acting with the highest standards of integrity and ethics, maintaining business ethics and honesty, fully and accurately 

implementing the core values of integrity, honesty, fairness, impartiality, and ethical business practices of the Group. 

In order to establish a healthy corporate culture and promote high ethical standards within the Group, the Group has 

established an anti-corruption policy and a whistle-blowing policy, which set outs, including but not limited to, (i) the types 

of breaches and conduct issues, and the personnel to which the policies apply; (ii) declaration of conflicting interests 

mechanisms; (iii) responsibilities of the relevant department(s) of the Group; (iv) consequences for breaching the relevant 

policies; and (v) whistle-blowing policy, with an aim to encourage our employees to report behaviour that is not in line with 

the principles of ethics and the Group’s policy such as events that are non-compliant with the Group’s policy, laws, rules, 

regulations, general practice of financial reporting and internal control.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the code of conduct rules (the “Model Code”) regarding securities transactions by the 

Directors on terms no less exactly than the required standard set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 

the Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, and that having made specific enquiry to all 

Directors, the Company confirms that all Directors have complied with the Model Code.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board takes responsibility for overseeing all major matters of the Company, including the formulation and approval 
of all policy matters, overall strategies, internal control and risk management systems, monitoring senior management’s 
performance and determining the policy for corporate governance.

The Directors make decisions objectively in the interests of the Company. The Board currently comprises a total of eight 
Directors, with four non-executive Directors, one executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors.

Corporate Governance and Other Information
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Huang Guanchao (Chairman)
Mr. Lim Tzea
Mr. Chen Kaiben
Mr. Chen Qi

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chen Li Kuang (appointed on 1 April 2022)
Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022)
Mr. Lam Hin Chi (resigned on 30 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl
Mr. Leung Chun Tung (appointed on 1 March 2022)

The biography details of the Directors are set out under the section headed “Biography Details of Directors and Senior 
Management” in this annual report.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chairman is responsible for leading the Board and is also responsible for overseeing effective functioning of the Board 
and application of good corporate governance practices and procedures.

Whereas the role of chief executive officer focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies approved and 
delegated by the Board. Since 18 July 2019, the position of chief executive officer has been vacant and the Company is 
still identifying a suitable candidate for the position of the chief executive officer.

BOARD INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to code provision B.1.4 of the CG Code, the Board established mechanism(s) to ensure independent views and 
input are available to the Board, in particular, (i) independent non-executive Directors are encouraged to actively participate 
in the Board meetings; (ii) to discourage to re-elect long-serving independent non-executive Directors; (iii) the number of 
independent non-executive Directors must comply with the requirement under the Listing Rules; and (iv) the independent 
non-executive Directors shall devote sufficient time to discharge their duties as a Director. Furthermore, the Directors may 
access external independent professional advice to assist their performance of duties at the expense of the Company. The 
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanism(s) on an annual basis.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises and embraces the importance and benefit achieving diversity on the Board has on corporate 
governance and board effectiveness. During the Year, the Company monitored the Board composition with regard to its 
diversity policy which requires board appointments to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits of the 
diversity of Board members. Selection of candidates will be based on a wide range of diversity perspectives, including 
but not limited to gender, age, race, language, cultural background, educational background, industry experience and 
professional experience. The Nomination Committee has developed measurable objectives to implement the board 
diversity policy and would monitor and review the progress in achieving these objectives annually. During the Year, the 
Board conducted an annual review of the implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy and was satisfied 
that the board diversity policy has been properly implemented and has been effective.
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The Board acknowledges that gender diversity is a representing manifestation of board diversity. Accordingly, the Company 
shall prepare to appoint at least one Director of different gender in the Board no later than 31 December 2024.

The eight Directors are from diverse and complementary backgrounds, including management, electronic components 
products trading, health products trading, business administration, and accounting. 

The Group is committed to workplace diversity and recognises benefits arising from employee and board diversity, 
including having a broad pool of quality and talented employees, improving employee retention, and being able to access 
different perspectives. Diversity includes different gender, age, ethnicity and religious belief. As at 31 December 2022, 
approximately 61% and 39% of the Group’s employees were male and female respectively. The Group recognises, and 
endeavours to protect, the rights of its employees and is committed to providing equal opportunities. The Group engages 
in transparent and fair recruitment practices, and fair remuneration and disciplinary decisions without regard to gender, 
age, family position, or ethnic background. Further information about the composition of the Group’s workforce, please 
refer to the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 40 to 49 in this report.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board at all times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the 
appointment of at least three independent non-executive directors representing one-third of the Board. These independent 
non-executive Directors are individuals from diversified backgrounds and industries and one member has appropriate 
accounting and related financial management expertise.

The independent non-executive Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent judgment and advice on 
the overall management of the Company. They take the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise. The Company 
has received an annual confirmation of independence from each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to 
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors meet the 
guidelines for assessing independence as set out in the Listing Rules and considers them to be independent.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration 
Committee”) and the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”) for 
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs under its defined scope of duties and terms of reference. The terms 
of reference of each of the Board Committees are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The 
Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able 
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

CG Code provision C.5.1 prescribes that at least four regular Board meetings should be held each year at approximately 
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of the Directors, either in person or through other electronic means 
of communication.
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Details of Directors’ attendance records during the Year are set out in the table below:

Meetings attended/held

Directors Board
Audit 

Committee
Nomination 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Huang Guanchao 8/8 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Lim Tzea 8/8 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Chen Kaiben 8/8 N/A N/A N/A
Mr. Chen Qi 8/8 N/A N/A N/A

Executive Directors
Mr. Chen Li Kuang (appointed on 1 April 2022) 5/8 N/A N/A 0/3
Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022) 5/8 N/A 3/3 3/3
Mr. Lam Hin Chi (resigned on 30 April 2022) 5/8 N/A N/A N/A

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wei 8/8 5/5 3/3 3/3
Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl 8/8 5/5 3/3 3/3
Mr. Leung Chun Tung (appointed on 1 March 2022) 6/8 4/5 0/3 N/A

Apart from regular Board meetings of the year, the Board will meet on other occasions when a Board level decision on a 

particular matter is required. The Directors receive agenda of each meeting in advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given 

of a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are despatched to all Directors at least three 

days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the related documents 

and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

All minutes of the Board meetings are kept by the company secretary of the Company and are available to all Directors for 

inspection.

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters covering corporate strategy, annual and interim results, 

Directors’ appointment, succession planning, risk management, major acquisitions, disposals and capital transactions, and 

other significant operational and financial matters. Major corporate matters that are specifically delegated by the Board to 

the management include the preparation of annual and interim accounts for the Board’s approval before public reporting, 

execution of business strategies and initiatives adopted by the Board, implementation of adequate systems of internal 

controls and risk management procedures, and compliance with relevant statutory requirements, rules and regulations.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

In accordance with C.1.4 of the CG Code with regards to continuous professional development, all Directors have 

participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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To further ensure all Directors are adequately informed about the Company’s business and operations as well as his 
responsibilities under relevant laws, rules and regulations, the company secretary of the Company provides all Directors 
with regular updates regarding the Company’s performance as well as updates on latest amendments and developments 
to the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.

The Directors received the following training for the year ended 31 December 2022 according to the records provided by 
the Directors:

Directors

Training on corporate 
governance, regulatory 
development and other 

relevant topics
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Huang Guanchao ✓

Mr. Lim Tzea ✓

Mr. Chen Kaiben ✓

Mr. Chen Qi ✓

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Li Kuang (appointed on 1 April 2022) ✓

Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022) ✓

Mr. Lam Hin Chi (resigned on 30 April 2022) ✓

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wei ✓

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl ✓

Mr. Leung Chun Tung (appointed on 1 March 2022) ✓

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the Directors to cover their liabilities arising out of 
corporate activities.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee’s current members include:

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl (Chairman)
Mr. Li Wei
Mr. Leung Chun Tung (appointed on 1 March 2022)

All of the committee members are independent non-executive Directors with the chairman of which possesses the 
appropriate professional qualifications and accounting experience. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to assist 
the Board in providing an independent view of the effectiveness of the financial reporting process, internal control and 
risk management system of the Group, to oversee the audit process and to perform other duties and responsibilities as 
assigned by the Board, to develop and review policies and practices of the Group on corporate governance, compliance 
with legal and regulatory requirements and requirements under the Listing Rules, and to develop, review and monitor the 
code of conduct applicable to the employees of the Group.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a copy of which is posted on 

the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee held 5 meetings. The attendance records are set out 

under the section headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance” in this annual report. The Audit Committee 

performed the following work during the year ended 31 December 2022:

(a) reviewed the interim financial statements and annual reports, including the accounting principles and accounting 

standards adopted, and made recommendations to the Board for approval;

(b) reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed their potential impacts on the Group’s financial 

statements;

(c) reviewed the Group’s internal control system and related matters; and

(d) considered and made recommendations on the re-appointment of the independent auditor of the Group and the 

terms of engagement

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s audited annual consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 

December 2021 and audited results for the year ended 31 December 2021 and unaudited interim condensed financial 

statement for the six months ended 30 June 2022 and had discussed the financial information with the management and 

the external auditors of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2022 before submission to the Board for its 

approval.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee’s current members include:

Mr. Li Wei (Chairman)

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl

Mr. Chen Li Kuang (appointed on 30 June 2022)

Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022)

The majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration Committee makes 

recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and senior management, 

reviews and approves the management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and 

objectives, and makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of Directors and senior management. 

Staff remuneration is determined by the Group’s management by reference to the individual staff’s qualifications, work 

experience, performance and prevailing market conditions.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a copy of which is 

posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Remuneration Committee held 3 meetings during the Year. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee 

reviewed the remuneration packages of the existing and newly appointed Directors and senior management. As no share 

options were granted during the Year, there was no material matter relating to the share option scheme adopted by the 

Company that was reviewed and/or approved by the Remuneration Committee during the Year.

Particulars regarding the Directors’ remuneration and five highest paid employees are set out in notes 31 and 9 to the 

consolidated financial statement respectively.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee’s current members include:

Mr. Li Wei (Chairman)

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl

Mr. Leung Chun Tung (appointed on 30 June 2022)

Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022)

The majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors. The principal duties of the Nomination Committee 

are to determine the policy of nomination of Directors and identify and nominate suitable candidates for appointment as 

Directors and make recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a copy of which is 

posted on the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nominate Committee has a policy concerning diversity of Board members which aims to maintain a diversified Board 

in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age and gender, with a view to enhance the 

quality of performance of the Board.

The Nomination Committee held 3 meetings during the Year. During the meetings, the Nomination Committee reviewed the 

structure and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director 

is required to declare such interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is considered at a Board meeting attended 

by Directors who have no material interest in the transaction. The Group also adopted certain internal control policies to 

manage potential conflicts of interest.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Yip Tak Yung Teresa, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time employee of the Group and has day-to-

day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The company secretary has duly complied with the relevant professional training 

requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The biographical details of the company secretary is set out in the 

section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” in the annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous professional 
and development of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal 
and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board, supported by the chief financial officer and the finance and accounts department of the Company, is 
responsible for the preparation of financial statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the financial statements for the Year, the Directors have reviewed and applied 
suitable accounting policies, adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong Kong Accounting 
Standards, made adjustments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on a 
going concern basis. The Directors are also responsible for keeping proper accounting records which reflect the financial 
information of the Group with reasonable accuracy.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditors of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the financial 
statements is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

External auditors’ responsibility is to form an independent opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements and 
to report their opinion solely to the Company, as a body, and for no other purpose. They do not assume responsibility 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of the auditors’ report.

Subsequent to the end of the Year, RSM Hong Kong resigned and McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited has been 
appointed as the Company’s external auditor (Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 20 February 2023). 
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or 
dismissal of the external auditor. The remuneration paid to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit services and 
non-audit services, for the Year is set out below:

Nature of services Fee paid/payable
HK$’000

Audit services
– McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited 1,400
– RSM Hong Kong 700

Non-audit services –

Total 2,100
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee and is based on merit, 
qualifications and competence of employees.

The remuneration policy of the Directors and senior management are decided by the Remuneration Committee having 
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. The remuneration of 
members of senior management by remuneration band  is set  out  in  note 9 to the consolidated financial statement.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining sound and effective risk management and internal control system 

and for reviewing its effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial, operational, compliance and risk 

management, to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets.

The Group also has risk management and internal control measures in place to minimise the risk exposure on its purchase 

price and to safeguard its assets. The Group monitors the market price of the relevant products every week, and may not 

make any further procurement in the event that the market price is lower than the purchase price quoted from the Group’s 

suppliers. In addition, the Group’s inventory procurement policy includes a combination of (i) back-to-back procurement 

based on purchase orders confirmed by its customers; and (ii) bulk procurement based on the Group’s estimations as to, 

among others, the general market trends. The Group would review and assess its product portfolio and product mix from 

time to time in order for the inventories in stock to be in line with the demand of the Group’s customers based on their 

feedback and market information collected, and thus to minimise the risk of having any aging inventories and/or onerous 

contracts.

With the relaxation of restrictions to combat the outbreak of COVID-19 in the PRC, it is expected that the economy in 

the PRC will resume back to normal gradually in 2023 and going forward. The Directors are therefore of the view that the 

market price of the inventories would resume back to a level that would enable the Group to make profitable sales. The 

Directors consider it more appropriate to re-sell them later when their market price resumes at profitable level, instead of at 

a price that is below the purchase price, in order to safeguard the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as 

a whole. Thus, the Directors are of the view that its risk management and internal control measures are effective to assess 

and manage the risk exposure on its purchase price in general.

The risk management and internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The 

system aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving the Company’s objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducted an annual review of the internal audit charter on the effectiveness 

of the risk management and internal control system of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, including the 

adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. 

The Audit Committee oversees the risk management and internal control system of the Group and communicates any 

material issues to the Board.

The Group has established procedures in handling and dissemination of inside information in an accurate and secure 

manner and to avoid possible mishandling of inside information within the Group.
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Based on the risk management and internal control system established and maintained by the Group, and reviews 

performed by the management, the Audit Committee and the Board are of the view that the Group has maintained sound, 

effective and adequate risk management and internal control system during the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in considering the payment of dividends, to allow 

shareholders of the Company to participate in the Company’s profits whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group’s 

future growth.

The Board shall consider the following factors before declaring or recommending dividends:

(i) the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

(ii) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of the members of the Group;

(iii) the Group’s working capital requirements, capital expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group’s liquidity position;

(v) general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and other internal or external factors that may 

have an impact on the business or financial performance and position of the Company; and

(vi) other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends shall remain to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board and subject to 

all applicable requirements under the Companies Ordinance and the articles of association of the Company.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, 

amend and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding 

commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no way oblige the Company to 

declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE

As disclosed under the paragraph headed “Training and support for Directors” of the section headed “Corporate 

Governance and Other Information” in this annual report, the Directors have sufficient up-to-date knowledge of relevant 

laws and regulations.

The Company had engaged external professional advisers, including legal advisers, to render professional advice as to 

compliance with the statutory requirements applicable to the Group from time to time.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and 

investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance 

of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which enables shareholders and investors to make 

appropriate investment decisions.

The members of the Board and Board Committees and the external auditor will be present to answer shareholders’ 

questions in the annual general meetings of the Company. Circulars will be distributed to all shareholders before the annual 

general meeting and any special general meetings in accordance with the timeline requirement as laid down in the Listing 

Rules and the articles of association of the Company. All the resolutions proposed to be approved at the general meetings 

will be taken by poll and poll voting results will be published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company 

after the relevant general meetings.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group maintains a website where information on the Company’s 

announcements, financial information and other information are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to 

the Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any enquires.

The Company shall maintain regular dialogue with Shareholders and will review its shareholders’ communication policy on 

an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. After the review of the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders’ 

communication policy, the Company is of the view that the policy is effective in providing channels for Shareholders to 

communicate their views on various matters affecting the Company and for the Company to solicit and understand the 

views of the Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETINGS AND REQUISITION BY SHAREHOLDERS

Pursuant to article 64 of the articles of association of the Company, shareholders holding in aggregate not less than 

one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company shall have the right to request the Board to convene an 

extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). Such requisition shall be made by a written request to the Board, stating the 

business to be transacted and signed by the requisitionist(s). Shareholders shall follow the requirements and procedures 

set out in the articles of association of the Company.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such 

deposit the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the 

same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be 

reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company.
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CONTACT DETAILS

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the following:

Address: Room 301-3, 3/F, Wing Tuck Commercial Centre

177-183 Wing Lok Street, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Fax: 2545 7999

E-mail: ir@qhhl.com.hk

As regards to proposing a person other than the retiring Director for election as a Director in a general meeting, please 

refer to the procedures available on the website of the Company. Shareholders may write directly to the Company at its 

principal place of business in Hong Kong with any inquiries.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 21 June 2022, the adoption of an amended and restated 

memorandum and articles of association of the Company (the “New M&A”) was approved by the Shareholders. For details 

of the amendments, please refer to Appendix III to the circular of the Company dated 29 April 2022. The Company has 

published its New M&A (both English and Chinese) on the Company’s website and on the website of the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for 

the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the Group are principally engaged in sale of health-care 

products and electronic component products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of the Group’s activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies 

Ordinance, including a fair review of the Group’s business, particulars of important events affecting the Group that have 

occurred since the end of the financial year, an indication of likely future development in the Group’s business,  and an 

analysis using financial key performance indicators are set out in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis” on 

pages 4 to 9 of this annual report and the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 40 to 

49 of this annual report, which forms a part of this Directors’ report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

Details of the segmental information are set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 

on page 56 of this annual report.

For details regarding a fair review of the Company’s business, please refer to the paragraph headed “Business Review” of 

the section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual report.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s operating results, assets and liabilities for the past five financial years is set out on page 128 of 

this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ Report
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the Year, sales to the largest and five largest customers accounted for approximately 41% and 96% respectively of the 

total sales for the Year. Purchases from the largest and five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 91% and 99% 

respectively of the total purchases for the Year.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to the knowledge of the directors of 

the Company own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five largest suppliers or 

customers.

DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend any dividend in respect of the Year (2021: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movement in the authorised share capital of the Company during the Year. Details of the movement in 

issued share capital of the Company are set out in note 23A to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in 

equity on page 60 of the annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the Company’s articles of association, the funds in the share 

premium and retained profit of the Company is distributable to the Shareholders provided that immediately following 

the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts as 

and when they fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s aggregate amount 

of reserves available for distribution of shareholders of the Company was approximately HK$356,564,000 (2021: 

HK$546,407,000).
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association, or the laws in Cayman Islands, 

which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities 

during the Year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Huang Guanchao (Chairman)
Mr. Lim Tzea
Mr. Chen Kaiben
Mr. Chen Qi

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Chen Li Kuang (appointed on 1 April 2022) 
Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022)
Mr. Lam Hin Chi (resigned on 30 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Wei

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl

Mr. Leung Chun Tung (appointed on 1 March 2022)

Biographical details of Directors of the Company are set out on pages 10 to 13 under the section headed “Biographical 

Details of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.
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At each annual general meeting, one third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is not three or a multiple of 

three, then the number nearest to but not less than one third) will retire from office by rotation provided that every Director 

shall be subject to retirement at least once every three years. The Directors to retire in every year will be those who have 

been longest in office since their last election but as between persons who became Directors on the same day those to 

retire shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by lot.

Each of Mr. Huang Guanchao, Mr. Lim Tzea and Mr. Leung Chun Tung shall hold office until the annual general meeting of 

the Company (the “AGM”), and being eligible, to offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the Company with no specific term.

Each non-executive Director has signed a letter of appointment with the Company with no specific term.

Each independent non-executive Director has signed a letter of appointment with the Company with a term of two years 

and is renewable automatically for successive term of one year from the next day after the expiry of the first appointment 

(the “3-year appointment”).

No contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 

and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any time 

during the Year.

No Director who are proposed for election or re-election at the upcoming annual general meeting has a service contract 

with the Company which is not determinable by the employees within one year without payment of compensation (other 

than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS, ARRANGEMENTS OR TRANSACTIONS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts, arrangement or transactions of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries were a party subsisted 

at the end of 2022 or at any time during the Year in which any Director or any entity connected with the Director had a 

material interest, either directly or indirectly.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the 

Company was entered into or existed during the Year.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than those transactions disclosed in note 28 to the Financial Statements, there was no other contract of significance 

between the Group and the Company’s controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the Year or 

at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Mr. Huang Guanchao is the owner and director a Hong Kong-based global electronic components trading and distribution 
group, which supplies electronic components to customers including sizeable manufacturing groups and technology 
companies in the PRC and the Southeast Asia.

Mr. Lim Tzea has been one of the key management personnel and one of the shareholders of an international trading 
company based in Singapore, being responsible for the management of the company’s trading business (which include 
trading of electronic components products) in Singapore, Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam.

The above-mentioned Directors declare their interests in competing business and both Mr. Huang Guanchao and Mr. Lim 
Tzea are non-executive Directors, where they are not involved in the daily operations of the Group. To the best of the 
knowledge of the Directors, the Group is capable of carrying on its businesses independently.

Save as disclosed above, each of the other Directors has confirmed that so far as they are aware of none of the Directors 
nor any proposed Director or his/her respective close associates had any interest in any business, apart from the Group’s 
business,which compete or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and as at 31 December 2022, the Company has purchased liabilities insurance 
for the Directors and supervisors, which provides appropriate insurance for the Group’s directors and supervisors. At no 
time during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this Directors’ Report, there was or is, any permitted 
indemnity provision being in force for the benefit of any of Directors or an associated company.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the 
Company’s securities.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the 

shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV 

of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 

pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which were taken or deemed to 

have under such provisions of the SFO) or were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register 

referred to therein, or were required pursuant to the Model Code (“Model Code”) for Securities Transactions by Directors 

of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules and the Stock Exchange were as follows:

(I) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Number of shares Position
Percentage of 

shareholding

(Note 1)

Mr. Huang Guanchao Interest in a controlled corporation, 
parties acting in concert (Note 2)

892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Beneficial owner (Note 4) 1,690,000 L 0.1%

Mr. Lim Tzea Interest in a controlled corporation, 
parties acting in concert (Note 2)

892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Beneficial owner (Note 3) 1,690,000 L 0.1%

Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares. The letter “S” denotes short position in the Shares.

2. These 892,485,771 shares of the Company (“Shares”) were beneficially owned by Explorer Rosy Limited (“Explorer Rosy”) 
as at 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022, Explorer Rosy was owned by Great Prosperous Limited (“Great 
Prosperous”), Thousands Beauties Limited (“Thousands Beauties”) and Noble Stand Limited (“Noble Stand”) as to 80%, 
10% and 10%, respectively. As at 31 December 2022, Great Prosperous, through Sparkling Rock Limited (“Sparkling Rock”) 
was wholly owned by Mr. Huang Guanchao, while Thousands Beauties and Noble Stand were wholly and beneficially owned 
by Mr. Lim Tzea. Mr. Huang Guanchao and Mr. Lim Tzea are deemed to be parties acting in concert pursuant to the SFO. 
By virtue of the SFO, each of Mr. Huang Guanchao and Mr. Lim Tzea is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by 
Explorer Rosy.

As at 31 December 2022, these 892,485,771 Shares were pledged in favour of Yunnan International Supply Chain Limited.

3. These Shares were the Shares which would be alloted and issued upon exercise in full of the options granted to such Director 
under the share option scheme of the Company.

4. These Shares were the shares which were alloted and issued upon exercise of the options under the share option scheme of 

the Company.
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(II) LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES OF ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS OF THE COMPANY – 
EXPLORER ROSY

Name of Director Capacity Number of shares
Percentage of 

shareholding

Mr. Huang Guanchao Beneficial owner 8,000 shares of US$1 each 80%

Mr. Lim Tzea Beneficial owner 2,000 shares of US$1 each 20%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no Directors or chief executive of the Company had any 

interests or short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the Company and the 

Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which 

were taken or deemed to be have under such provisions) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the 

SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or which were required in the Listing Rules pursuant to the 

Model Code to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, according to the register of interests maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the 
SFO and so far as was known to, or could be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors or chief executive of 
the Company, the following persons, other than the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, who had an interest 
or a short position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company 
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or who were, directly or indirectly, deemed to be interested 
in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general 
meetings of any other member of the Group and the amount of each of such person’s interests in such securities, together 
with particulars of any options in respect of such capital were as follows:

LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Number of shares Position
Percentage of 

shareholding

(Note 1)

Explorer Rosy Beneficial owner 892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Great Prosperous Interest in a controlled 
corporation, parties  
acting in concert (Note 2)

892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Thousands Beauties Interest in a controlled 
corporation, parties  
acting in concert (Note 3)

892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Noble Stand Interest in a controlled corporation, 
parties acting in concert (Note 3)

892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Sparkling Rock Interest in a controlled corporation, 
parties acting in concert (Note 2)

892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Ms. Chong Siew Hoong 
（張曉紅）

Interest of spouse (Note 4) 892,485,771 L S 52.67%

Interest of spouse (Note 4) 1,690,000 L 0.1%

Yunnan Provincial Energy 
Investment Group Co., Ltd.

Having a security interest  
in shares (Note 5)

892,485,771 L 52.67%

Yunnan Energy Investment  
(HK) Co. Limited

Having a security interest  
in shares (Note 5)

892,485,771 L 52.67%

Yunnan International Supply  
Chain Limited

Having a security interest  
in shares (Note 5)

892,485,771 L 52.67%

Yunnan International Holding 
Group Limited

Having a security interest  
in shares (Note 5)

892,485,771 L 52.67%

Mr. Alan C W Tang Joint and several receiver  
(Note 6)

892,485,771 L 52.67%

Ms. Hou Chung Man Joint and several receiver  
(Note 6)

892,485,771 L 52.67%

SHINEWING SAS (Nominee 
Services) No. 3 Limited

Receivers (Note 6) 892,485,771 L 52.67%
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Notes:

1. The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares. The letter “S” denotes short position in the Shares.

2. Explorer Rosy was owned by Great Prosperous, Thousands Beauties and Noble Stand as to 80%, 10% and 10%, respectively. 
Great Prosperous was wholly owned by Sparkling Rock. By virtue of the SFO, Great Prosperous and Sparkling Rock are deemed to 
be interested in all the Shares held by Explorer Rosy.

3. Great Prosperous, through Sparkling Rock, was wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Huang Guanchao, while each of Thousands 
Beauties and Noble Stand was wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lim Tzea. As Mr. Huang Guanchao and Mr. Lim Tzea are 
deemed to be parties acting in concert pursuant to the SFO, by virtue of the SFO, each of Thousand Beauties and Noble Stand is 
deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Explorer Rosy.

4. Ms. Chong Siew Hoong（張曉紅）is the spouse of Mr. Lim Tzea, and is deemed to be interested in the Shares which are interested 

by Mr. Lim Tzea under the SFO.

5. As at 31 December 2022, 892,485,771 Shares were pledged in favour of Yunnan International Supply Chain Limited. According 

to the information available to the Company, Yunnan International Supply Chain Limited was wholly owned by Yunnan International 

Holding Group Limited, which in turn was owned as to approximately 40% by Yunnan Energy Investment (HK) Co. Limited. Yunnan 

Energy Investment (HK) Co. Limited is wholly owned by Yunnan Provincial Energy Investment Group Co., Ltd.

6. As at 31 December 2022, Ms. Hou Chung Man and Mr. Alan C W Tang were appointed as the joint and several receivers over 

892,485,771 Shares, while SHINEWING SAS (Nominee Services) No. 3 Limited was jointly controlled by Ms. Hou Chung Man and 

Mr. Alan C W Tang in their capacity as receivers.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or any 

of their respective associates had any interest and short position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 

Company and/or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be 

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests 

and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or were required, 

pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register of the Company referred to therein; or were required, 

pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, the Company was not notified by any persons (other than Directors or 

chief executive of the Company as discussed above) who had interests or short positions in the Share or underlying Shares 

which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which 

were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business are set out in note 28 to the financial 

statements. As these related party transactions constitute fully exempted continuing connected transactions of the 

Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, none of them constitutes discloseable connected transactions as 

defined under the Listing Rules.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 9 June 2014, the shareholders of the Company approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the “Scheme”).

Details of the Scheme are as follows:

(1) PURPOSE

To provide incentives or rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution to the Group.

(2) ELIGIBLE PERSONS

Any person who is an employee or a Director, or any eligible supplier, customer, advisor or consultant of the 

Company and its subsidiaries at the discretion of the Board.

(3) MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES

The scheme mandate limit of the Scheme was refreshed by a shareholders’ resolution passed in the annual general 

meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2017. Accordingly, the maximum number of shares available for issue 

under the Scheme is 170,040,500 (adjusted for the number of shares with the share consolidation on 12 September 

2018), representing 10% of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of the annual general 

meeting of the Company held on 13 June 2017.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to 

exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point of time, without prior approval from the Company’s 

shareholders.

(4) MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH ELIGIBLE PERSON

Unless approved by shareholders, the total number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which options 

granted and may be granted to any individual in any 12-month period is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of 

the Company in issue at any point in time.

Options granted to substantial shareholders, independent non-executive Directors, or any of their respective 

associates (including a discretionary trust whose discretionary objects include a substantial shareholders, 

independent non-executive Directors, or any of their respective associates) in excess of 0.1% of the Company’s 

share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5,000,000 must be also approved by the Company’s shareholders.

(5) ACCEPTANCE OF OFFERS

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a 

nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. 

(6) TIME OF EXERCISE OF OPTION

The exercise period for the share options granted is determined by the Board, which period may commence from the 

date of acceptance of the offer for the grant of share options but shall end in any event not later than 10 years from 

the date of the grant of the option subject to the provisions for early termination under the Scheme.
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(7) BASIS OF DETERMINING THE OPTION EXERCISE PRICE
The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the Directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the 
Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares on the date of the offer of the share options which must be a business 
day; (ii) the average Stock Exchange closing price of the Shares for the five trading days immediately preceding the 
date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

(8) THE REMAINING LIFE OF THE SCHEME
The Scheme will remain in force until 8 June 2024, being the date which falls ten years after the date of adoption of 
the Scheme.

At the beginning of the Year, the number of share options available for grant under the Scheme was 98,960,500. As no 
share options were granted during the Year, the number of share options available for grant under the Scheme remained 
the same. Details of the share options movement and outstanding as at 31 December 2022 have been disclosed in Note 
24 to the financial statements.

The following table lists the details of the movement in the options granted and outstanding under the Scheme during the 
Year:

Number of options (thousands)

Type of participant Date of grant Exercisable period

Exercise  

price

Outstanding 

as at 

1 January 

2022

Exercised 

during 

the Year

Cancelled 

during 

the Year

Lapsed 

during 

the Year

Outstanding 

as at 

31 December 

2022

(’000) (’000) (’000) (’000) (’000)

A supplier 20 May 2019 20 May 2019 to 19 May 2022 HK$0.25 16,925 – – (16,925) –

Director:

Mr. Lim Tzea 12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 HK$0.121 845 – – – 845

12 June 2020 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 HK$0.121 845 – – – 845

Former Directors:

Mr. Xu Keli# 12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 HK$0.121 8,463 – – – 8,463

12 June 2020 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 HK$0.121 8,462 – – – 8,462

Mr. Lam Hin Chi# 12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025  HK$0.121 8,463 – – – 8,463

12 June 2020  1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 HK$0.121 8,462 – – – 8,462

A Shareholder of a 

customer

3 July 2020 3 July 2020 to 2 July 2025 HK$0.127 8,463 – – – 8,463

3 July 2020 3 July 2021 to 2 July 2025 HK$0.127 8,462 – – – 8,462

69,390 – – (16,925) 52,465

# Share options granted to Mr. Xu Keli (resigned on 30 June 2022) and Mr. Lam Hin Chi (resigned on 30 April 2022) would be lapsed 
on 30 April 2023 and 30 June 2023 respectively if these share options granted are not exercised on or before these dates.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the Scheme is 52,465,000, representing approximately 3.1% of the 
Company’s issued share capital as at the date of this annual report.

Saved as disclosed above, no share options granted under the Scheme were exercised, during the year ended 
31 December 2022.
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The Company is aware that amendments were made to Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, which has come into effect on 
1 January 2023, which include, among others, revising the scope of eligible participants of share option schemes and 
setting out the minimum vesting period requirements. The Company will only grant the share options in compliance with 
the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules and pursuant to the transitional arrangements for share schemes existing 
as at 1 January 2023 as specified by the Stock Exchange. Going forward, the Company will also consider to amend the 
Scheme so as to comply with the new requirements under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, in any event not later than the 
refreshment or expiry of the scheme mandate; or to adopt a new share option scheme that comply with the requirements 
under the amended Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on publicly available information and the best knowledge of the Directors, the 
Company had sufficient public float as required under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATION

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance and 
Other Information” in this annual report.

So far as the Directors are aware, the Group has complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that 
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

The Group recognises its responsibility to protect the environment from its business activities. The Group continually seeks 
to identify and manage environmental impacts attributable to its operational activities in order to minimise these impacts, 
if possible. The Group aims to maximise energy conversation in its offices by promoting efficient use of resources and 
adopting green technologies. For instance, the Group seeks to upgrade equipment such as lighting and air-conditioning 
systems in order to increase overall operating efficiency. To identify energy efficiency opportunities, the Group measures 
and records the energy consumption intensity from time to time.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES AND SERVICES AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to long-term sustainability of its businesses and the communities with which it engages. As the 

Group’s businesses do not involve production lines, major wastes comprise papers and solid wastes generated in the 

Group’s office and warehouses during its operation. To strengthen the support for waste recycling, the Group sets up 

a collection area to collect recyclables, including paper, plastics and metals. The recyclables collected will be sent to 

Community Green Stations collection points. The Group will provide guidance to the employees to develop a recycling 

habits not just only at work, but also in their daily life and influence their surroundings by their actions. The Group upholds 

this business approach by managing our business prudently and executing management decisions with due care and 

attention.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group seeks uphold high standard of integrity in all aspects of business and is committed to ensure that its affairs are 

conducted in accordance with the applicable laws and regulatory requirements. The following law has significant impact on 

the Group’s business during the Year:
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SALES OF GOODS ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 26 OF THE LAWS OF HONG KONG (“SOGO”))

KEY SCOPE

SOGO regulates the sales of goods by the Group in Hong Kong. SOGO provides that, in a contract for the sale of goods 

by description, there is an implied condition that the goods shall correspond with the description. It also provides that 

where a seller sells goods in the course of a business, there is an implied condition that the goods supplied under the 

contract are of merchantable quality, except where an exception condition is met.

COMPLIANCE MEASURES

The Group has adopted appropriate internal control, quality control measures and implemented standardised product 

return policies to ensure compliance with SOGO in relation to the supply of goods in Hong Kong.

During the Year, there has been no violation or breach of relevant laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the 

Group.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Remuneration packages are generally structured with reference to prevailing market terms and individual qualifications. 

Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based on performance appraisals and other relevant factors.

Apart from salary payments, there are other staff benefits including mandatory provident fund, medical insurance and 

performance related discretionary bonus. Share options may also be granted to eligible employees of the Group as 

incentives or rewards.

Relationship is the fundamental of business. The Group fully understands this principle and thus maintains close 

relationship with customers to fulfil their immediate and long-term needs. The Group also maintains good relationship with 

suppliers as they are essential to the Group’s business performance and growth since they can have direct influence over 

the quality of products and customer satisfaction. We are committed to establishing a close and long-term cooperation 

relationship with business partners.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES OF THE GROUP

The Directors consider that the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group during the year ended 31 December 

2022 included credit risk, currency risk and liquidity risk. For further details, please refer to note 3 to the consolidated 

financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

AUDITOR

There was change in auditor of the Company during the Year.

Subsequent to the end of the Year, RSM Hong Kong resigned from the office of auditor of the Company and McMillan 

Woods (Hong Kong) Limited was appointed as the auditor of the Company. Please refer to the announcement of the 

Company dated 20 February 2023. McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited will retire and a resolution for their re-

appointment as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Huang Guanchao

Chairman

Qianhai Health Holdings Limited

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) hereby 
presents this Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report (“ESG report”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 
(the “Year”), in order to comply with the requirements set forth in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. This report provides an 
overview of the Company’s policies implementation and performance with respect to sustainable development and social 
responsibilities areas.

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks, and ensuring that appropriate 
and effective ESG risk management and internal control systems are in place. Management of the Group has provided a 
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of the related systems.

The reporting scope of the ESG Report includes the Company and its subsidiaries, covers the operations of the Group’s 
registered office and warehouse in Hong Kong, accountable for 100% of the Group’s revenue, while excluding the 
operations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), due to the operations of the PRC subsidiaries are not material. 
The Group is primarily engaged in the sale of health-care products and electronic component products.

STAKEHOLDERS’ ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands stakeholder engagement is a critical element to the success of the Group. The Group has conducted 
materiality assessment in identifying and understanding the main concerns and material interests of stakeholders.

The following table illustrates the issues of concern of our major stakeholders and the ways we communicate with 
stakeholders:

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measure

Shareholders and Investors • Robust operational 
compliance

• Good returns on 
investment

• Disclosure of 
information in a fair, 
transparent and timely 
manner

• Annual general 
meeting and other 
shareholders’ 
meetings

• Interim reports, 
annual report, 
announcements

• Company’s website

• Meeting with investors

Issued notices of general 
meeting and proposed 
resolutions according to 
regulations, disclosed 
company’s information by 
publishing announcements, 
circulars, interim report and 
annual report in the Year. 
Carried out different forms 
of investor activities with an 
aim to improve investors’ 
recognition. Disclosed 
Company’s contact details 
on its website and in 
reports and ensured all 
communication channels 
being available and effective.

Government, public and 
communities

• To comply with the 
laws

• Ensure safety, 
environmental 
protection and social 
responsibility

• On-site inspections 
and checks

• Discussion through 
work reports 
preparation and 
submission for 
approval

Operated, managed 
according to laws and 
regulations, strengthened 
safety management; 
accepted the government’s 
supervision, inspection 
and evaluation, and 
actively undertook social 
responsibilities.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel Measure

Employees • Safeguard the rights 
and interests of 
employees

• Salary and welfare

• Working environment

• Career development 
opportunities

• Health and safety

• Training and briefing 
sessions

• Policies and 
procedures

• Channels for 
employees to express 
their opinions

• Performance 
assessment

• Team activities

Provided a healthy and 
safe working environment; 
established policies and 
procedures according to 
local labour law; developed 
communication channel with 
management; developed 
a fair mechanism for 
promotion; cared for 
employees by helping those 
in need and organising 
employee activities.

Customers • Assurance on quality 
and quantity of 
product

• Stable relationship

• Group’s reputation and 
brand image

• Market demand

• Site visit

• Email and customer 
service

• Regular meetings

Organised marketing 
activities and site visit.

Suppliers/Partners • Long-term partnership

• Honest cooperation

• Fair and open

• Information resources 
sharing

• Timely payment

• Strategic co-operation

• Regular meetings and 
visits

• Tendering process

Invited tenders to select 
best suppliers and 
contractors, undertake 
obligations according to 
agreements, enhanced 
daily communication, and 
established long-term 
cooperation with quality 
suppliers and contractors.

Peer/Industry associations • Experience sharing

• Corporations

• Fair competition

• Industry conference

• Site visit

• Website

Stuck to fair play, cooperated 
with peers to achieve  
win-win circumstances 
shared experiences and 
attended seminars and 
meetings of the industry so 
as to promote sustainable 
development of the industry.

The Group welcomes stakeholders’ feedback on its ESG approach and performance. For any suggestion or opinion, 
please send to the Group via its email at ir@qhhl.com.hk.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Materiality assessment was conducted in accordance with the expectation and feedback from the key stakeholders. Based 

on the assessment, the management of the Group prioritises employees’ rights and obligations and product responsibility 

as material aspects of the long-term sustainability. Effective internal control systems on these aspects are reinforced with 

the aim of enhancing efficiency of operations and generating the environmental and social benefits to our stakeholders.

ENVIRONMENT

The Group mainly engaged in sale of health products and electronic component products to wholesalers and retailers in 

Hong Kong, while it does not constitute any significant impact to the environment and does not generate any material level 

of greenhouse gas or any material hazardous and non-hazardous waste. Although there was no specific policy adopted in 

relation to air and greenhouse gas  emissions, wastes discharges and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, 

the Group has developed a guidance memorandum regarding environmental protection practices, which will be reviewed 

annually and delivered to staff. The Group mainly consumed petrol, electricity, water and paper during the Year.

The Group strives to comply with all relevant environmental laws and regulations that are applicable to its business 

operation. Its business does not involve in the production-related air, water, or land pollutions which are regulated under 

the laws and regulations of Hong Kong. 

EMISSIONS
I. AIR EMISSIONS

Petrol was used in private cars for business meetings and travels, which is not deemed as a material aspect to the 
Group’s business, as no air emission figures was recorded in the Year. The Group will consider accounting for this 
emission next year or when regulatory changes and demands for its disclosure in a nearer future.

II. CARBON EMISSIONS
During the Year, the energy consumption of the Group was mainly from the electricity purchased, which was 
indirect emissions resulting from daily operation of our Hong Kong offices and warehouse and the travelling by the 
employees. The direct and indirect emission of carbon dioxide for the Year were 2.77 tonnes (2021: 13.49 tonnes) 
and 22.29 tonnes (2021: 24.41 tonnes) respectively.

In the coming years, the Group will continue to encourage the use of teleconference and minimise business travel to 
reduce carbon emissions. The Group targets to keep the carbon emissions at the simliar low level as that of the Year.

III. WASTE MANAGEMENT
The Group’s operations do not produce any hazardous waste. The non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group 
were mainly papers and solid wastes generated in our office and warehouses during our operation. To strengthen the 
support for waste recycling, the Group sets up a collection area to collect recyclables, including paper, plastic and 
metals. The recyclables collected will be sent to Community Green Stations collection points. The Group will provide 
guidance to the employees to develop a recycling habits not just only at work, but also in their daily life and influence 
their surroundings by their actions.

Since the Group is engaged in trading business, the non-hazardous waste and hazardous waste are not deemed 
to be material to the Group’s business. No related statistics of both non-hazardous waste and hazardous waste 
produced were recorded. We shall closely follow regulatory changes and update our disclosure accordingly in the 
future.
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USE OF RESOURCES
As per the materiality assessment results, the major environmental impact of the Group lies in the use of electricity and 
non-hazardous waste generated.

I. ENERGY CONSUMPTION
The world is facing up to historic global warming challenges and the Group strives to save energy and resources 
through implementation of internal policies and use of advanced technologies persistently as to emit as least carbon 
as possible and operate our business in a sustainable way. For example, at the Group’s offices and warehouse, the 
indoor temperature and the running time of air-conditioning system are controlled, and the Group has installed LED 
lighting system to reduce electricity consumption and carbon emissions.

The Group has established “Reduce, Reuse and Recycle” environmental strategies focusing on the water, electricity 
and pare usage for its operations. The Group has always devoted in reducing energy consumption. Apart from 
utilising LED lighting system and natural light, the Group also educates its employees to be more involved in 
executing our environmental guidelines in order to raise their awareness on energy conservation and environmental 
protection.

Direct consumption

Intensity of energy consumption

(per employee)

Energy consumption 

sources Use of energy 2022 2021 2022 2021

Petrol For vehicles 1,047 Litres 5,102 Litres 49.8 Litres 231.9 Litres

Electricity For daily  

operation

34,203 Kilowatt 

per hours

36,808 Kilowatt

per hours

1,628 Kilowatt 

per hours

1,673 Kilowatt 

per hours

In the coming years, the Group will continue to commit using energy efficiently by implementing the aforementioned 
strategies. The Group targets to keep the energy consumption at the simliar low level as that of the Year.

II. WATER CONSUMPTION

Water consumption included only consumption from headquarter offices and the warehouse. Since normal daily 
water consumption is not a material aspect to our business, there were no issues in sourcing water and no water 
consumption figures were recorded during the Year. Thus, the Group is unable to set any target with respect to water 
efficiency. The Group will consider accounting for this emission next year or when regulatory changes and demands 
for its disclosure in a nearer future.

The Group regularly reminds its staff to conserve water resources through publishing notices and reminders. To 
reduce water consumption, staff are reminded to control tap flow and report any dripping taps or water leakage to 
relevant department promptly. The Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that was fit for the purpose during 
the Year.

III. USE OF PACKING MATERIALS AND PAPER

The Group prioritises to consume environmental-friendly and sustainable products for its office supplies and 

encourage recycling in its operations. The Group’s existing businesses are not expected to pose a significant use 

of packaging materials. However, the Group still encourages the employees to reduce usage of paper. The Group 

recommends the employee to handle informal documents electronically and to use double-sided printing for any 

documents other than formal and confidential documents. Re-using single-sided paper and recycling doubled-sided 

used paper are also required. During the Year, the Group used 74.7 kg (2021: 93.6 kg) of printing paper.
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES
The Group is committed in building an environmental-friendly corporation that pays close attention to conserve natural 
resources. Since the Group is engaged in trading business, its operations during the Year did not have any significant 
impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources. To incorporate environmental sustainability into the Group’s 
operations, the Group strives to minimise its environmental impact and move forward to a low-carbon future.

CLIMATE CHANGE
The effects of climate change have been manifested in altered weather patterns, extreme weather events and reduced 
supplies of various resources. Human-induced climate change is likely to lead to an increase in extreme weather 
events, such as severe typhoons, seasonal storms, and abnormal precipitation. The Group strives to improve the 
business resilience against climate-related risks and to respond to the national call for energy conservation and emission 
reductions. The Group continues to assess impacts to the operations and make respective enhancement to ensure and 
maintain the business operation under these extreme weather events or disruptions. Climate change presents both risks 
and opportunities, and the Board will continuously monitor them and enhance the precautionary measures in order to 
strengthen the business climate resilience and prepare for the effects of climate change. Below summarised the climate-
related risks that may result in significant impact on the business:

Risk Type Risk Driver Implications Actions Taken

Physical Risk Extreme Weather Events As a result of flooding, extreme winds and other events 
caused by extreme weather, the warehouse or offices 
can be damaged as well as the business disrupted, 
which can affect profitability and increase maintenance 
costs.

In order to minimise the disruptions to the business 
operation, the Group has adopted a set of contingency 
measures that are applicable to the most weather-related 
events. We have developed comprehensive typhoon and 
rainstorm arrangements to safeguard the safety of our 
employees under extreme weather conditions. The work 
arrangements included reporting for duty, early release 
from work, the resumption of work, and the special 
arrangements in respect of essential staff in situations 
of adverse weather. The Group also gives consideration 
as much as possible to the different situations faced by 
individual employees, such as their place of residence, 
the road and traffic conditions in the vicinity, and adopt 
a flexible approach with due regard to their actual 
difficulties and needs.

Transition Risk Customer Behaviour Change

Policy And Regulatory Actions

Changing customer behaviour can cause revenue 
loss for the Group if it does not capture the needs of 
environmentally conscious customers.

Environmental laws and regulations in the jurisdictions 
in which the Group operates can cause it to suffer 
losses if it fails to comply with them.

To manage the legal risks that may be brought along 
by the climate crisis, the Group has taken an array 
of actions. First, the Group constantly monitors any 
changes in laws or regulations. Second, the Group has 
sought compliance consulting services to reduce legal 
risks. Third, the Group has been taking comprehensive 
measures to protect the environment, including measures 
aimed at reducing greenhouse gas emissions. By going 
beyond current compliance requirements, the Group has 
a better chance to adapt swiftly to regulatory changes.

The Group recognises that climate change is one of the biggest challenges facing the world today, and the Group is 
constantly seeking to improve the business’ resilience to climate-related risks and mitigate their negative effects.

REGULATORY COMPLIANCE
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any material non-compliance issues in respect of any 
applicable laws and regulations on environmental protection relating to air, greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into 
water and land, generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The Group’s management continuously oversees the 
implementation of relevant policies and measurements. In addition, the Group’s management will adjust and reform the 
policies from time to time to ensure the achievement of better results.
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SOCIAL

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
EMPLOYMENT
The Group treasures talent as it is one of the most valuable assets and keys for driving success and maintaining 
sustainable development. The Group strives to provide its staff with a safe and competitive platform for career 
development and advancement.

For the employees in Hong Kong, the Group’s human resources policies strictly adhere to the applicable employment 
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC. The Group’s human resources department reviews and updates relevant 
company policies in accordance with the latest laws and regulations regularly.

The Group contributes to mandatory provident fund, employees’ compensation insurance, social insurances and housing 
fund for all the staff in a timely manner. The Group determines working hours and rest period for employees in line with 
employment laws and employment contracts with employees. In addition to statutory holidays such as the basic paid 
annual leave, employees are also entitled to maternity leave, marriage leave, paternity leave and birthday leave.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the laws or regulations relating to employment and 
labour practices that had a significant impact on the Group.

To attract high-calibre workforce, the Group offers competitive and fair remuneration and benefits based on individuals’ 
performance, professional qualifications and experiences. In order to motivate and reward existing management and 
employees, the Group conducts regular salary review to ensure that its staff are recognised by the Group with regard 
to their working efforts and contributions. Meanwhile, any termination of employment contract should be based on 
reasonable and lawful grounds. The Group strictly prohibits any kinds of unfair or unreasonable dismissals.

As an equal opportunity employer, the management of the Company is committed in creating a fair, respectful and 
diviersifying working environment by promoting anti-discrimination and equal opportunity in all human resources and 
employment decisions. For instance, training and promotion opportunities, dismissals and retirement policies are 
determined irrespective of their gender, race, age, disability, family status, marital status, pregnancy status, sexual 
orientation, religion beliefs, nationality, social and ethnic origin or any other non-job related factors in all business units. The 
Group’s equal opportunities policy enforces zero tolerance to any workplace discrimination, harassment or victimisation. 
If there is any discrimination incidents, employees can report to human resources department of the Group. Disciplinary 
actions would be taken against any employee if there is any non-compliance or breach of legislation related to the equal 
opportunities policies.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed 18 full-time employees (2021: 22 employees) in total, of which 11 
employees (2021: 15 employees) were male, while 7 (2021: 7) were female. 44% (2021: 41%) of the employees aged 
from 31 to 40; while 33% (2021: 32%) of them aged from 41 to 50; and the remaining of them aged over 51. All of them 
are under Hong Kong employment. The turnover rate of the Year were 100% (2021: 0%) of male, while 0% (2021: 0%) of 
female. The turnover rate of the Year were 0% (2021: 0%) aged from 31 to 40; 29% (2021: 0%) aged from 41 to 50; and 
10% (2021: 0%) aged over 51.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group places strong importance in securing the health and safety of employees and in maintaining workplace safety 

and comfort for its staff. The Group regularly reviews and monitors potential occupational health and safety risks within the 

offices and warehouse to ensure a safer workplace environment for the employees.

The Group established an internal inspection system to ensure the health and safety of customers and employees during 

business operations. We have designed a health and safety review process to ensure that the workplace is under constant 

monitoring and that any deficiencies are identified and corrected in a timely manner. Representatives from the Group will 

inspect and review safety issues in the workplace regularly, and employees are encouraged to report health and safety 

incidents and risks whenever identified. We have also implemented health and safety measures aiming to maintain a safe 

working environment. Such measures include but are not limited to:

• require the use of a suitable ladder to reach items stored at high places;

• encourage employees to ask for assistance or use the right tools to raise heavy objects; and

• keep corridors and common areas clean and tidy.

In addition, the Group regularly communicates health and safety information to employees to enhance their awareness of 

occupational health and safety. At the same time, we provide medical examinations to our employees annually and provide 

them with medical treatment advice whenever necessary.

In response to COVID-19 pandemic, the Group has taken various actions to strengthen the precautionary measures in our 

offices to ensure the health of our employees. The Group has conducted additional sanitation procedures in its offices. 

Also, employees and client are required to wear a facial mask in the offices.

To provide and maintain a good working condition and a safe and healthy working environment, the Group complies with 

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong and other applicable laws and regulation. The Group did not 

violate the relevant laws and regulations on health and safety during the Year.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulation on occupational 

health and safety that had a significant impact on the Group. The Group had no work-related fatalities and no work-related 

injuries case during the Year.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING
The Group endeavours to enhance the skills of each employee in various aspects by providing staff trainings. In order to 

assist employees in reaching the “keep moving” spirit, the Group supports individual learning and self-improvement for our 

employees at all levels by providing tailor-made training sessions and education subsidies. The trainings are beneficial for 

our employees in adopting professional knowledge and improving efficiency in the Group’s business operations which also 

ultimately increase their job satisfaction and morale. The Group has constantly provided on-job education and trainings for 

its employees to improve their knowledge and expertise.
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In the Year, the Group organised training courses which covered the major changes of the Rules Governing the Listing of 

Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and regulations. Directors and senior management of the Group 

participated in the training to maintain their continuous professional training development and to fulfil their obligations 

under Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Trainings also provided for the Group’s 

frontline and supporting staff regarding the system usages and products knowledge.

During the Year, the Group provided trainings to 8 employees, which included 7 employees from senior management and 

1 employee from middle management, the percentage of employees trained by gender are 46.7% of male and 14.3% of 

female. The average training hours completed per employee by gender are 2 hours for male and 4 hours for female. The 

average training hours completed per employee by management group are 4 hours for senior management and 2 hours for 

middle management.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance and other laws and regulations to prohibits any child and forced 

labour. To combat against illegal employment, the human resources department of the Group is responsible for recruitment 

which requires the job applicants to provide valid identity documents prior to the confirmation of employment to ensure 

that the applicants are lawfully employable. The Group prohibits any force of work under threat or duress. The Group 

encourages the employees to report any suspected case of child or forced labour to the management. If any case is 

reported, investigation will be carried out and appropriate actions will be taken to prevent future occurrence.

The human resources department of the Group is responsible to monitor and ensure compliance of latest and relevant laws 

and regulations in relation to the prevention of child labour and forced labour. During the Year, no violation of relevant laws 

and regulations in relation to the prevention of child labour and forced labour was noted.

OPERATING PRACTICES

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Supply chain management aims to optimise the operation of supply chains at the lowest cost, which enables the efficient 

operation from procurement to all procedures that satisfy end customers.

Supplier management is essential to the Group regarding its management of partners, whereby a good partner ensures 

the successful launch of products. Hence, the Group emphasises on the selection of suppliers. We expect suppliers to 

maintain high standards of business ethics, communicate with suppliers and encourage them to use more environmentally 

friendly products and services. The Group assesses every supplier’s background, qualification, relevant licences, financial 

status, past performance and their operation in our supplier selection process to ensure the supplier is operating in good 

integrity and social responsibility. The selection and evaluation process enables us to identify environmental and social 

risks in the supply chain. The Group constantly communicates with the suppliers to enable the suppliers to understand 

the Group’s standards and policies on environmental and social aspects. The Group reviews suppliers’ performance and 

organises site visits on a regularly basis to ensure suppliers fulfill with the Group’s standards.
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During the Year, the number of suppliers by geographical region is as follows:

Number of 

suppliers

Geographical region 2022 2021

Hong Kong: 6 8

Canada: – 4

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group endeavours to provide high quality and safe products to the customers. The Group has strict quality control in 

each operation step: procurement, production and warehousing. The Group tests quality of product samples by paying 

on-site visits to suppliers in order to select high quality product-suppliers and to ensure the quality of products. In respect 

of warehouse management, the Group has room temperature warehouse and cold storage warehouse to meet the storage 

requirement of different products to keep the products in good condition and good quality.

The Group strictly complies with all applicable laws and regulations and obtains all the licenses relating to product 

responsibility. During the Year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance with the laws or regulations relating to 

product responsibility issues. The Group follows the guidelines under Hong Kong Department of Health and the Group’s 

policies for any recall of products for safety and health reasons. During the Year, no sold-products were recalled for safety 

and health reasons.

The Group attaches great importance to maintain customer relationships and values customers’ opinions. The Group 

maintains close communication with the customers in order to obtain better understanding of the customers’ expectations 

and feedbacks. Should any complaint arise, the Group will carefully consider and investigation will be carried out to identify 

the issues. During the Year, the Group did not receive any complaints or requests for sales return.

DATA PRIVACY

Protecting the security and privacy of stakeholders’ personal data is important to the Group. The Group ensures 

compliance with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and other statutory requirements to meet a high standard of 

security and confidentiality of personal data privacy protection. The following data protection principles are adopted in 

preserving proper security and use of data:

• we only collect personal data that are relevant and required for our businesses;

• we will not share personal data to any entity that is not a member of the Group without consent unless it is required 

by law or it was previously notified; and

• we maintain appropriate data collection, storage, and processing practices and security measures to protect against 

unauthorised access to personal information.

During the Year, no complaints regarding breaches of customer data and privacy were received, and no reported incident 

of non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to product responsibility.
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INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

The Group respects intellectual property rights, including but not limited to trademarks, patents, copyrights and designs 

in the preparation of marketing and communication materials. The Group requires its staff to comply with regulatory 

requirements in collecting, holding, processing, disclosing and using personal information, as well as protecting 

confidential information received in the course of business. Consents are required prior to usage of any trademarks.

ANTI CORRUPTION

To maintain a fair, ethical and efficient business and working environment, the Group strictly adheres to the laws and 

regulations relating to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and the Anti-Money Laundering and 

Counter-Terrorist Financing Ordinance, and bribery irrespective of the area or country where the Group is conducting 

business. The Group has formulated and strictly enforced anti-corruption policies pursuant to which the Group will not 

tolerate any form of corruption. All employees are expected to discharge their duties with integrity and self-discipline. 

They should abstain from engaging in any activities related to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering which may 

exploit their positions against the Group’s interests in the course of business. During the Year, the Group was not aware 

of any incidents of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money 

laundering.

The Group has issued relevant whistle-blowing procedures in setting up a private communication channel on reporting 

suspicious fraudulent actions to the Group’s management directly. In addition, when the Group cooperates with external 

parties, the Group implements proper internal control process and tendering process to prevent any potential threats on 

corruption.

In the Year, management of the Group attended an anti-money laundering webinar and attended e-training of anti-

corruption. Management regularly assesses the effectiveness of the Group’s anti-corruption policy. There was no legal case 

regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees during the Year. The Group will continue to review 

and improve the internal control and corporate governance to maintain high standard of ethics and integrity in all business 

operations.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group emphasises the importance of social responsibility awareness to its staff and encourages them to participate in 

social activities and charitable activities.

The Group believes in people-oriented management principle, carries out a variety of activities in fulfilling our social 

responsibilities, actively pursues social contribution initiatives and strives to create a sustainable and harmonious society.

The Group encourages its employees to dedicate their time and skills to supporting the local communities and encourages 

its business partners to implement and improve corporate social responsibility policies. The Group strives to develop 

long-term relationship with our stakeholders and brings a positive impact on community development.

During the Year, the Group mainly allocated its resources on business expansion, which resulted a less contribution to 

community investment. In the coming years, the Group shall review policies in relation to community investment and 

explore the feasibility of increasing community investment activities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the shareholders of

Qianhai Health Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 

subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 56 to 127, which comprise the consolidated 

statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement 

of  comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for 

the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the 

Group as at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the 

year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 

Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 

HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 

in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our opinion.

Independent Auditor’s Report

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

QIANHAI HEALTH HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. We have determined (i) net realisable value of inventories; and (ii) provision for onerous contracts 

to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

The Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Net realisable value of inventories
Refer to significant accounting policies in note 2, critical 

estimates and judgements in note 4 and its relevant 

disclosures in note 15 to the financial statements

At 31 December 2022, the Group held inventories of 

approximately HK$380,461,000, net of provision for 

inventory of approximately HK$252,919,000 (2021: 

HK$455,082,000, net of provision for inventory of 

HK$14,919,000). Inventories are carried at the lower of 

cost and net realisable value (“NRV”) in the consolidated 

financial statements.

The Group is engaged in trading of semiconductor and 

electronic components. Management estimated the 

NRV of inventories at 31 December 2022 based on the 

estimated selling price less cost to sell, which required 

significant judgements and assumptions to be made to 

determine the estimated selling price. The determination 

of estimated selling price of individual products is based 

on historical experience of sale of similar products, 

expectation of future sales based on current market 

conditions and latest selling price subsequent to the year 

end date. The estimations may change as a result of future 

changes of market demand and management’s sales and 

pricing strategy.

Due to the significance amount of inventories to the 

Group’s consolidated financial statements (representing 

approximately 71% of the Group’s total assets) and the 

determination of NRV involved the use of significant 

management judgements and estimates, we considered 

this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in relation to the NRV of inventories 

included:

– Understanding, evaluating and validating the key 

controls the management adopted to determine the 

estimated NRV for different products;

– Evaluating the estimated selling price and estimate 

costs to be incurred for different products based on 

discussion with management about the latest sales 

pattern and their sales and pricing strategy with 

reference to our knowledge on market demand and 

market trend of different products and comparing 

the estimated selling price and estimate costs to be 

incurred with information of historical sales data and 

orders received subsequent to the year end;

– Comparing the carrying amount of inventories on a 

sampling basis, against the NRV of the inventory aging 

report and the inventory;

– Testing, on a sample basis, the supporting documents 

of latest selling prices of similar inventory items of the  

invoice from customers; and

– Evaluating the reasonableness of the Group’s inventory 

allowance by comparing, on a sample basis, the 

carrying value of inventories with expected selling 

prices or net realisable value.
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The Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Provision for onerous contracts

Refer to significant accounting policies in note 2, critical 

estimates and judgements in note 4 and its relevant 

disclosures in note 16 to the financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group 

entered into several purchase contracts with its major 

supplier under which the Group was required to pay 

20% of the purchase amount to the major supplier as 

non-refundable deposits which the Group is obliged to 

purchase items of electronic component at predetermined 

quantity and unit price. As at 31 December 2022, the 

Group had prepaid approximately HK$93,197,000 to its 

major supplier.

Given the market price of those electronic components 

kept decreasing after purchase contracts being entered. 

The management of the Group considers onerous contracts 

exist at the end of reporting period and estimates the 

unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations will exceed the 

economic benefits expected to be received by the Group 

upon honoring these outstanding purchase contracts which 

are expected to be completed within one year.

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the 

Group assesses its present obligations arising under these 

onerous purchase contracts and measured as provisions 

at the end of the reporting period.

The determination of provisions is based on, among 

others, (i) the market trend of those electronic components 

before purchases executed by the Group; (ii) estimated 

economic benef i ts , be ing the va lue of e lectron ic 

components to be sold in the market, received by the 

Group; and (iii) financial capability of the Group in honoring 

the purchase contracts.

Due to the determination of provision involved the use of 

management judgements and estimates, we considered 

this as a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures in relation to the provision on 

prepayment for onerous contracts included:

– Obtaining direct confirmation from the major supplier; 

– Enquiring of management the business rationale in 

placing of prepayment to the major supplier; 

– Conducting interview with the representative of 

the major supplier and enquire, among others, the 

trading term, arrangement of prepayment and the 

latest realisation plan of the prepayment for inventory 

purchase;

– Obtaining the business plan and challenge the financial 

capability of the Group in honoring the purchase 

contracts, including sales plan and estimated costs to 

be incurred to make them sell;

– Cha l leng ing the es t imated economic benef i t s 

concluded by the management against the market 

price publicly available;

– Checking utilization of prepayment against inventory 

procured subsequent to the end of the reporting 

period; 

– Assessing the appropriateness and reasonableness 

of methodology and inputs adopted in calculating the 

provision for onerous contract;

– Reperforming the calculation of provision for onerous 

contracts prepared by the management.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by another auditor 

who expressed a qualified opinion on those statements on 27 April 2022.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of the 

information included in the Company’s annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 

of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 

in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 

or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 

performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 

accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 

basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic 

alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee and the directors of the Company are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 

process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We 

report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for no other purpose. 

We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 

from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 

exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 

statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group 

to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 

manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, regarding among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 

on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminiate threats or related safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 

describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 

when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because 

the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 

communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: P06633

24/F., Siu On Centre, 188 Lockhart Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 31 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 5 1,961,704 283,398

Cost of sales 6 (1,885,222) (267,360)

Gross profit 76,482 16,038

Other income 7 452 119

Other (losses)/gains, net 8 (308,176) 4,137

Reversal of loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade 

receivables, net 16,928 –

Selling and distribution expenses 6 (166) (158)

Administrative expenses 6 (19,189) (20,516)

Finance costs 10 (34) (508)

Operating loss and loss before income tax (233,703) (888)

Income tax 11 – –

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (233,703) (888)

HK cents HK cents

Loss per share

Basic and diluted 13 (13.79) (0.05)

The notes on pages 64 to 127 are on integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year (233,703) (888)

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Reclassification adjustment on exchange differences released  

upon disposal of subsidiaries 26 – (3,078)

Exchange differences arising from translation of  

foreign operations (125) (2)

Other comprehensive loss for the year (125) (3,080)

Total comprehensive loss for the year  

attributable to owners of the Company (233,828) (3,968)

The notes on pages 64 to 127 are on integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 28,898 30,086

Loan receivable 16 – 18,000

Total non-current assets 28,898 48,086

Current assets

Inventories 15 380,461 455,082

Trade and other receivables 16 123,433 232,988

Cash and cash equivalents 17 1,642 2,470

Total current assets 505,536 690,540

Total assets 534,434 738,626

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 23(a) 67,778 67,778

Reserves 23(b) 368,927 602,755

Total equity 436,705 670,533

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 December 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities

Lease liabilities 21 487 –

Total non-current liabilities 487 –

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 18 3,345 54,262

Provision 19 93,197 –

Contract liabilities 20 – 6,000

Lease liabilities 21 700 666

Bank borrowings 22 – 7,165

Total current liabilities 97,242 68,093

Total liabilities 97,729 68,093

Total equity and liabilities 534,434 738,626

The consolidated financial statements on pages 64 to 127 were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2023 

and were signed on its behalf by:

Huang Guanchao Chen Li Kuang

Director Director

The notes on pages 64 to 127 are on integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Share 

option 

reserve

Retained 

profits

Total 

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At I January 2021 67,710 – 8,249 3,075 3,944 590,208 673,186

Comprehensive income

Loss for the year – – – – – (888) (888)

Other comprehensive income

Reclassification adjustment on exchange 

differences released upon disposal of 

subsidiaries – – – (3,078) – – (3,078)

Exchange differences arising from 

translation of foreign operations – – – (2) – – (2)

Other comprehensive loss for the year – – – (3,080) – – (3,080)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (3,080) – (888) (3,968)

Share issued under share option 

scheme

– gross proceeds 68 137 – – – – 205

– transfer from share option reserve – 109 – – (109) – –

Equity-settled share-based payments – – – – 1,110 – 1,110

68 246 – – 1,001 – 1,315

At 31 December 2021 67,778 246 8,249 (5) 4,945 589,320 670,533

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Share 

capital

Share 

premium

Capital 

reserve

Exchange 

reserve

Share 

option 

reserve

Retained 

profits

Total 

equity

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At I January 2022 67,778 246 8,249 (5) 4,945 589,320 670,533

Comprehensive income

Loss for the year – – – – – (233,703) (233,703)

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences arising from 

translation of foreign operations – – – (125) – – (125)

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (125) – (233,703) (233,828)

Lapse of share options – – – – (1,064) 1,064 –

At 31 December 2022 67,778 246 8,249 (130) 3,881 356,681 436,705

The notes on 64 to 127 are on integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before income tax (233,703) (888)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,434 2,436

Finance costs 34 508

Gain on disposals of subsidiaries (21,945) (14,296)

Interest income (100) (119)

Equity-settled share-based payment expenses – 1,110

Provision for onerous contracts 93,197 –

Reversal of loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables, net (16,928) –

Gain on early termination of lease (7) –

Provision for inventory 238,000 11,419

Operating cash inflow before changes in working capital 60,982 170

Decrease in trade and other receivables 131,992 73,310

Increase in inventories (163,379) (140,120)

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (28,852) 16,463

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities (6,000) 6,000

Net cash used in operating activities (5,257) (44,177)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received from banks 1 –

Interest received from loan receivables 99 119

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (4) (9)

Repayments of loans by third parties 12,300 6,000

Net cash (outflow)/inflow on disposals of subsidiaries (54) 40,731

Net cash from investing activities 12,342 46,841

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid on bank borrowings (3) (480)

Proceeds from bank borrowings – 40,440

Repayments of bank borrowings (7,165) (55,980)

Principal element of lease payments paid (714) (694)

Interest element of lease payments paid (31) (50)

Proceeds from issue of shares under share option scheme – 205

Net cash used in financing activities (7,913) (16,559)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (828) (13,895)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 2,470 16,365

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,642 2,470

The notes on pages 64 to 127 are on integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Qianhai Health Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) are principally engaged 

in sale of health–care products and sale of electronic components products.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands on 18 August 

2011 under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of Cayman Islands. The 

Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Explorer Rosy Limited (“Explorer Rosy”), a company 

incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”). The ultimate beneficial owners of Explorer Rosy are Mr. Huang 

Guanchao and Mr. Lim Tzea. The address of the Company’s registered office is P.O. Box 2681, Cricket Square, 

Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, KY1–1111, Cayman Islands. The address of its principal place of business is Room 

301–3, 3/F., Wing Tuck Commercial Centre, 177–183 Wing Lok Street, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares were 

listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), unless otherwise stated. The 

consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue by the board of directors of the Company on 31 

March 2023.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated 

financial statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 

stated. The consolidated financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

(A) COMPLIANCE

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with all 

applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term include all 

applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards 

(“HKASs”) and interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

(“HKICPA”), and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 

(“HKCO”). These consolidated financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions 

of the Rules Governing the listing of securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

(B) HISTORICAL COST CONVENTION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(C) NEW AND AMENDED STANDARDS ADOPTED BY THE GROUP

The Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, 

which are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2022 for the 

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before  

Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Annual Improvements Project to  

HKFRSs 2018-2022

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 16, and  

HKAS 41

Amendments to Accounting  

Guideline 5

Merger Accounting for Common Control  

Combinations

The Group did not change its accounting policies or make retrospective adjustments as a result of 

adopting the abovementioned amended standards or annual improvements.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

(D) NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS TO STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ADOPTED

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations that are relevant to the 

Group but not yet effective for the financial year beginning on 1 January 2022 and have not been early 

adopted by the Group are as follows:

The Group has not applied any amendments to standards and interpretation that have been issued but 

are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 January 2022.  The amendments to standards and 

interpretation include the following which may be relevant to the Group. 

Effective for accounting 
periods beginning on or 

after

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023

Amendments to HKAS 12 - Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities Arising 
from a Single Transaction

1 January 2023

Amendments to HKFRS 16 - Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback 1 January 2024

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined by the
 HKICPA

Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020) Presentation of Financial Statements - 
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on 
Demand Clause 

1 January 2024

Amendments to HKFRS 17 - Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments and new 

standards is expected to be in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of 

them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

SUBSIDIARIES

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls 

an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity 

and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are 

fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 

date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are 

eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment 

of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure 

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non–controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of profit 

or loss, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial 

position respectively.

The Group treats transactions with non–controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as 

transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment 

between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non–controlling interests to reflect their relative interests 

in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non–controlling interests and any 

consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the 

Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re–measured to its fair value at the 

date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the 

initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, 

joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 

in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 

liabilities. It means the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit 

or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.3 SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of 

investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 

receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 

investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend 

is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying 

amount in the financial statements of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.4 SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 

operating decision–maker.

The Company has appointed the executive directors as the chief operating decision makers to review the 

operating results of the Group on a consolidated basis, and makes strategic decisions.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

(A) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency 

of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The 

consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is the functional 

currency of the Company and presentation currency of the Group.

(B) TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at 

the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year–end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 

denominated in foreign currencies are generally recognised in the statement of profit or loss. All foreign 

exchange gains and losses are presented in the statement of profit or loss within “other (losses)/gains, 

net”.

Non–monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities 

carried at fair values are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences 

on non–monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are 

recognised in the statement of profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences 

on non–monetary financial assets, such as equities classified as fair value through other comprehensive 

income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(C) GROUP COMPANIES

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 

hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are 

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at the closing 

rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

(ii) income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income are translated 

at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative 

effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are 

translated at the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.



Qianhai Health Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 202270

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION (CONTINUED)

(C) GROUP COMPANIES (CONTINUED)

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign 

entities, and of borrowings, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is 

sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences 

are reclassified to the statement of profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

(D) DISPOSAL OF FOREIGN OPERATION AND PARTIAL DISPOSAL

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 

operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or 

a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint venture that includes a foreign operation), all of the 

currency translation differences accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable to the 

owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that 

includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated currency translation differences 

are re–attributed to non–controlling interests and are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial 

disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in joint ventures that do not result in the 

Group losing joint control) the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange difference is reclassified 

to profit or loss.

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment, are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses. Historical 

cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the 

Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted 

for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the 

statement of profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight–line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual values, over 

their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings 2% or over the lease term, whichever is shorter

Properties leased for own use Over the lease term

Leasehold improvements 20%

Fixtures and office equipment 20%

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount 

is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.7).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount. These are 

included in the statement of profit or loss.

2.7 IMPAIRMENT OF NON–FINANCIAL ASSETS

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 

annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be 

impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 

the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 

asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 

value less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 

at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the 

cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash–generating units). Non–financial assets other than 

goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each 

reporting period.

2.8 INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

(A) CLASSIFICATION

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

• those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or 

through profit or loss), and

• those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the 

contractual terms of the cash flows.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(A) CLASSIFICATION (CONTINUED)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other 

comprehensive income. For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the business model 

in which the investment is held. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this 

will depend on whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to 

account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income.

See Note 3.4 for details of each type of financial assets.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those 

assets changes.

(B) RECOGNITION AND DERECOGNITION

Regular way purchases and sale of financial assets are recognised on trade–date, the date on which the 

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive 

cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

(C) MEASUREMENT

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 

asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or 

loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their 

cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

DEBT INSTRUMENTS

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the 

asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three measurement categories into which 

the Group classifies its debt instruments:

• Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows 

represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. Any gain or loss 

arising on derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains or losses 

together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line 

item in the statement of profit or loss. Interest income from these financial assets is included in 

finance income or other income using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(C) MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

DEBT INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

• Fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”): Assets that are held for collection of 

contractual cash flows and for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent 

solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount 

are taken through other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or 

losses, interest income and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or 

loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other gains 

or losses – net. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income or other 

income using the effective interest method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 

other gains or losses and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in profit or loss.

• Fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”): Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or 

FVOCI are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is 

subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss and presented net in profit or loss within 

other losses or gains, net in the period in which it arises.

EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s management 

has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, 

there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the 

derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or 

loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other 

gains or losses, net in the profit or loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity 

investments measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.

(D) IMPAIRMENT

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the financial assets 

measured at amortised cost (including loan receivable from a third party and a joint venture, consideration 

receivable, trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents).
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(D) IMPAIRMENT (CONTINUED)

MEASUREMENT OF ECLS

ECLs are a probability–weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 

value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group in 

accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rate where the effect of 

discounting is material:

– fixed–rate financial assets and trade and other receivables: effective interest rate determined at initial 

recognition or an approximation thereof;

– variable–rate financial assets: current effective interest rate;

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over which the 

Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable information that is available 

without undue cost or effort. This includes information about past events, current conditions and forecasts 

of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

– 12–month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from possible default events within the 

12 months after the reporting date; and

– lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all possible default events over the 

expected lives of the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on 

these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss 

experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current 

and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance equal to 12–month ECLs unless 

there has been a significant increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in 

which case the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(D) IMPAIRMENT (CONTINUED)

SIGNIFICANT INCREASES IN CREDIT RISK

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial 

recognition, the Group compares the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed at the 

reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment, the Group 

considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the 

Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the 

financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information 

that is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and forward–looking information that is 

available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 

increased significantly since initial recognition:

– failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or internal credit 

rating (if available);

– an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; and

– existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have a 

significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk 

is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a 

collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as 

past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk 

since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss 

in profit or loss. The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments with a 

corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.



Qianhai Health Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 202276

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.8 INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(D) IMPAIRMENT (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF CALCULATION OF INTEREST INCOME

Interest income recognised in accordance with Note 2.22 is calculated based on the gross carrying 

amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit–impaired, in which case interest income is 

calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial 

asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit–impaired. A financial asset 

is credit–impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 

flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit–impaired includes the following observable events:

– significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

– it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

– significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal environment that have an 

adverse effect on the debtor; or

– the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

WRITE–OFF POLICY

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that 

there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group determines that the 

debtor does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the 

amounts subject to the write–off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are recognised as a reversal of 

impairment in profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial 

position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to 

settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into 

arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be set off in 

certain circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.10 INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs of purchased inventory are 

determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 

ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 

the sale.

2.11 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. If 

collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are classified as current assets. If 

not, they are presented as non–current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they 

contains significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade 

receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently 

at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See Note 2.8 for further information about the Group’s 

accounting for trade receivables and Note 2.8(d) and 3.1(c) for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.12 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents 

includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short–term, highly liquid 

investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of 

cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.13 SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or 

options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES, AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of financial 

year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due 

within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays consideration before the Group recognises the 

related revenue (Note 2.21). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an unconditional 

right to receive consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding 

receivable would also be recognised (Note 2.11).

2.15 BORROWINGS

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the 

redemption amount is recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 

effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs 

of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the 

fee is deferred until the draw down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or 

all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised 

over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation specified 

in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial 

liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any 

non–cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in the statement of profit or loss as other 

income or finance costs.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to a creditor to 

extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit 

or loss, which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability and the fair 

value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 

the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.15 BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 

of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset 

for its intended use or sale. Qualifying assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on 

qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based 

on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities 

attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(A) CURRENT INCOME TAX

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 

enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries operate and 

generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect 

to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 

appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

(B) DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 

the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 

However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability 

in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 

have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply 

when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 CURRENT AND DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

(B) DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 

utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 

amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the 

timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in 

the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax 

assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax 

assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 

either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 

recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in 

other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.17 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

(A) SHORT–TERM OBLIGATIONS

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non–monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are 

expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render 

the related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period 

and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are 

presented as current employee benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(B) OTHER LONG–TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

The liabilities for annual leaves are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of 

the period in which the employees render the related service. They are therefore measured as the present 

value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 

end of the reporting period using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected 

future wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future 

payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period of high–quality corporate 

bonds with terms and currencies that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Remeasurements as a result of experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.17 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(B) OTHER LONG–TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position if 

the entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the 

reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

(C) POST–EMPLOYMENT OBLIGATIONS

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong, the assets of 

which are held in separate trustee–administered funds.

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN

Defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions, on a 

mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis, into a separate entity. The Group has no further payment 

obligations once the contributions have been paid. It has no legal or constructive obligations to pay 

further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to 

employee service in the current and prior periods.

MPF Scheme in Hong Kong is a defined contribution plan for certain employees. The assets of the MPF 

Scheme are held in separate trustee–administered funds. Both the entity and the employees are required 

to contribute 5% of the employees’ relevant income up to a maximum of HK$1,500 per employee per 

month. The entity’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are expensed as incurred.

(D) PROFIT–SHARING AND BONUS PLANS

The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit–sharing based on a formula that 

takes into consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. 

The Group recognises a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 

created a constructive obligation.

(E) TERMINATION BENEFITS

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the normal 

retirement date, or when an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The 

Group recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the following dates: (a) when the Group can no 

longer withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when the entity recognises costs for a restructuring 

that is within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment of terminations benefits. In the case of 

an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured based on the 

number of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the end 

of the reporting period are discounted to present value.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 SHARE–BASED PAYMENT

Share–based compensation benefits are provided to directors, eligible employees, suppliers, consultants and 

customers under a share option scheme.

SHARE OPTIONS

The fair value of options granted under the share option scheme is recognised as an expense with a 

corresponding increase in equity. The total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value 

of the options granted:

(a) including any market performance conditions (e.g. the entity’s share price);

(b) excluding the impact of any service and non–market performance vesting conditions (e.g. profitability, 

sales growth targets and remaining a grantee of the entity over a specified time period); and

(c) including the impact of any non–vesting conditions (e.g. the requirement for grantees to save or hold 

shares for a specific period of time).

Options which are cancelled prior to their exercise date or lapse are deleted from the register of outstanding 

options. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, 

the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses as a 

movement in reserves.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified 

vesting conditions are to be satisfied. At the end of each period, the entity revises its estimates of the number 

of options that are expected to vest based on the non–market vesting and service conditions. It recognises 

the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the statement of profit or loss, with a corresponding 

adjustment to equity.

2.19 PROVISION

Provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 

events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has 

been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. Where there are a number 

of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering 

the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect 

to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. Provisions are measured at the present 

value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end 

of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre–tax rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the 

provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.20 ONEROUS CONTRACTS

Present obligation arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured as provision. A onerous 

contract is considered to exist where the Group has a contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting 

the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract. 

Provision for onerous contracts are measured at the present value of the lower of the expected cost of 

terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing with the contract.

2.21 REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The Group recognises revenue when a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when control over a product 

underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer, at the amount of promised 

consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled.

SALE OF GOODS

Sale of goods is recognised when the Group has delivered goods to the customer, and the customer has 

accepted the goods and collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured.

The Group sells a range of health–care products and electronic components in the market. Sale of goods are 

recognised when the Group has delivered products to the customers, the customers have full discretion over 

the channel and price to sell the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers’ 

acceptance of the products. The Group normally does not accept any returns from customers. Delivery occurs 

when the products have been collected at the specified location and the control of promised goods have been 

transferred to the customers, given that the customers are satisfied with conditions of goods and has ability to 

direct the use of products.

2.22 INTEREST INCOME

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group 

reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at 

the original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. 

Interest income on impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

2.23 GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the 

grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 LEASES

Leases are recognised as a right–of–use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased 

asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non–lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the 

contract to the lease and non–lease components based on their relative stand–alone prices. However, for 

leases of leasehold land and buildings for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and 

non–lease components and instead accounts for these as a single lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include 

the net present value of the following lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in–substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at 

the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement 

of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 

determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, 

being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset 

of similar value to the right–of–use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and 

conditions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24 LEASES (CONTINUED)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

• where possible, uses recent third–party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, 

adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received;

• uses a build–up approach that starts with a risk–free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by 

the Group, which does not have recent third party financing; and

• makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which 

are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an 

index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right–of–use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss 

over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 

liability for each period.

Right–of–use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

• any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;

• any initial direct costs; and

• restoration costs.

Right–of–use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a 

straight–line basis (Note 2.6). If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right–of–use 

asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short–term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low–value assets are 

recognised on a straight–line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short–term leases are leases with a lease 

term of 12 months or less.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.25 RELATED PARTIES

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or the Group’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which means parent, subsidiary and 

fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a 

member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post–employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the Group or an 

entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides personnel services to the Group 

or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be 

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS 

The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit 

risk and liquidity risk. The management identifies, evaluates and mitigates financial risks in close co–operation 

with the Group’s operating units. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability 

of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(A) FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group primarily operates in Hong Kong. It is also exposed to foreign exchange risk primarily through 

sales and purchases which give rise to receivables, payables and cash balances that are denominated in 

foreign currencies other than the functional currency of the entities within the Group. The currencies giving 

rise to this risk are primarily RMB, CAD, and USD.

Management manages its foreign exchange risks by performing regular review and monitoring its foreign 

exchange exposure.

As Hong Kong dollar is pegged to United States dollar, the Group considers the risk of movements in 

exchange rate between Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar to be insignificant.

As at 31 December 2022, if RMB had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021: 5%) against HK$, with all 

other variables held constant, post–tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK$1,116,000 

(2021: HK$5,011,000) lower/higher as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of RMB 

denominated assets.

As at 31 December 2022, if CAD had strengthened/weakened by 5% (2021: 5%) against HK$, with all 

other variables held constant, post–tax loss for the year would have been approximately HK$nil (2021: 

HK$763,000 lower/higher) as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses (2021: losses/gains) on translation 

of CAD denominated assets and liabilities.

(B) INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly from cash at 

banks and bank borrowings with floating rate, and loan receivables with fixed rate. In view of the current 

market interest rate, the management considered that the effect of interest rate change on the balances 

with banks carrying interest at prevailing market rate does not have significant impact to the Group.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate benchmarks is being undertaken globally, including the 
replacement of some interbank offered rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly risk–free rates. Details of the 
impacts on the Group’s risk management strategy arising from the interest rate benchmark reform and the 
progress towards implementation of alternative benchmark interest rates are set out in Note 3.1(c).
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

(B) INTEREST RATE RISK (CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2022, if interest rates on net exposures of variable–rate interest–bearing bank 

borrowings had been 30 basis points (2021: 30 basis points) higher/lower with all other variables 

held constant, post–tax loss for the year of the Group would have been approximately HK$1,000 

(2021: HK$18,000) higher/lower due to net interest expense paid on market interest rate.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group’s loan receivable was all issued at fixed rate which expose 

the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Management considers the fair value exposure of the fixed rate 

loan receivables is insignificant to the Group.

(C) CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The Group’s credit risk primarily arises from trade and other 

receivables, loan receivable and consideration receivable in relation to disposal of subsidiaries and cash 

deposited at banks. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 

Group in the event of the counterparties failure to perform their obligations as at the end of the reporting 

period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of these assets which 

are stated as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables 2,530 104,948

Consideration receivable in relation to disposal of subsidiaries – 90,000

Loan receivable 17,700 30,000

Cash deposited at banks 1,642 2,470

21,872 227,418

TRADE RECEIVABLES

In order to minimise the credit risk, management is responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit 

approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow–up action is taken to recover overdue 

trade receivables. Normally, the Group does not hold any collateral over trade receivables. In addition, the 

management reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt regularly. The Group considered the 

associated credit risk of trade receivables and debtors are manageable in general. Trade receivables are 

generally due within 60 to 120 days (2021: 60 to 120 days) from the date of billing.

The Group has a concentration of credit risk from trade receivables from certain customers. For the 

year ended 31 December 2022, the top customer accounted for approximately 41% (2021: 23%) of the 

Group’s revenue. As at 31 December 2022, 100% (2021: 46%) and 100% (2021: 87%) of the total trade 

debtors was due from the largest customer and the three largest customers respectively.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

(C) CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measure ECLs which uses a lifetime expected 

loss allowance for all trade receivables, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s 

historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer 

segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group’s 

different customer bases. The Group categorises its trade receivables based on past due status as well as 

the factors stated in Note 4(b) to measure the ECLs.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 

receivables as at 31 December 2022 and 2021:

Expected 

loss rate

Gross 

carrying 

amount

Loss 

allowance

Net 

carrying 

amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2022

Current (not past due) – – – –

Within 30 days past due – – – –

31 to 90 days past due – – – –

91 to 180 days past due 6.33% 2,701 171 2,530

181 to 270 days past due – – – –

271 to 365 days past due – – – –

2,701 171 2,530

As at 31 December 2021

Current (not past due) 0.14% 25,898 37 25,861

Within 30 days past due 1.58% 3,035 48 2,987

31 to 90 days past due 3.28% 25,877 848 25,029

91 to 180 days past due 6.32% 35,548 2,248 33,300

181 to 270 days past due 31.10% 21,744 6,758 14,986

271 to 365 days past due 72% 9,945 7,160 2,785

122,047 17,099 104,948
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

(C) CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Movements in the loss allowance account in respect of trade receivables during the year is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 17,099 17,099

Reversal of impairment losses during the year (16,928) –

At 31 December 171 17,099

CONSIDERATION RECEIVABLE

The credit quality of consideration receivable has been assessed with reference to repayment record 

of consideration in accordance with the terms of sale and purchase agreement and the assessment of 

the credit report of the relevant purchaser and its senior management. This balance is assessed by the 

management of the Group as low risk of default because no indicator to trigger a significant increase 

in credit risk nor deterioration of credit quality was identified, The management of the Group has not 

identified any significant unfavourable issues from reviewing the credit report of the relevant purchaser 

and its senior management and acknowledge that the relevant counterparty has settled the partial 

consideration in accordance with payment terms of the sale and purchase agreement. Accordingly, the 

management has assessed the risk of default as insignificant and no expected credit losses have been 

made on the balance of consideration receivable.

CASH DEPOSITED AT BANKS

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, all cash and cash equivalents were deposited in state–owned banks 

and bank with highly “credit” rating and reputable were hence without significant credit risk. Management 

does not expect any losses by these counterparties.

LOAN RECEIVABLE

For loan receivable, management makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment 

on the recoverability of other receivables based on historical settlement records and past experience. 

Those balances are assessed by the management of the Group as low risk of default with no any 

indicator to trigger a significant increase in credit risk nor deterioration of credit quality, since the relevant 

counterparties have strong capacity to meet the contractual cash flow.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 FINANCIAL RISK FACTORS (CONTINUED)

(D) LIQUIDITY RISK

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding 

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities to meet the cash outflows of its financial 

liabilities.

The Group’s primary cash requirements have been the payment for operating expenses. The Group mainly 

finances its working capital requirements through internal resources. The Group’s policy is to regularly 

monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure it maintains sufficient cash and cash 

equivalents and working capital to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities at amortised cost into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The 

amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flow.

Within 1 year Over 1 year

Total 

undiscounted 

cash flows

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 December 2022

Trade and other payables 3,345 – 3,345

Lease liabilities 744 496 1,240

4,089 496 4,585

As at 31 December 2021

Trade and other payables 54,262 – 54,262

Lease liabilities 682 – 682

Bank borrowings 7,347 – 7,347

62,291 – 62,291
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group’s entities will be able to continue as a going concern 

while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of borrowings and lease liabilities, less cash and cash equivalents 

and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share capital, other reserves and retained profits 

as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Management reviews the capital structure regularly. The management considers the cost of capital and the 

risks associated with each class of capital, and will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 

dividends, new share issues as well as the raising of bank loans.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. This ratio is 

calculated as net debts divided by total equity. Net debts is calculated as bank borrowings and lease liabilities, 

less cash and cash equivalents, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. Total equity 

represents the balance as “Total equity” shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities (Note 21) 1,187 666

Bank borrowings (Note 22) – 7,165

Less: cash and cash equivalents (1,642) (2,470)

Net (equity)/debts (455) 5,361

Total equity 436,705 670,533

Gearing ratio N/A 0.80%

3.3 FAIR VALUES

All financial instruments are carried at amounts not materially different from their fair values as at 31 December 

2022 and 2021.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Financial 
assets at 

amortised cost
HK$’000

Assets as per consolidated statement of financial position

At 31 December 2022
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 20,400
Cash and cash equivalents 1,642

 
Total 22,042

At 31 December 2021
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 225,122
Cash and cash equivalents 2,470

 
Total 227,592

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised cost
HK$’000

Liabilities as per consolidated statement of financial position

At 31 December 2022
Trade and other payables 3,345
Lease liabilities 1,187

 
Total 4,532

 
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 54,262
Lease liabilities 666
Bank borrowings 7,165

 
Total 62,093



Qianhai Health Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 202294

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, 

will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s 

accounting policies.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, apart 

from those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 

statements:

Significant increase in credit risk

ECL are measured as an allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 

assets. An asset moves to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 

does not define what constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing whether the credit risk of an asset 

has significantly increased the Group takes into account qualitative and quantitative reasonable and supportable 

forward-looking information.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(A) NET REALISABLE VALUE OF INVENTORIES

Determining whether a provision is necessary in the carrying amount of inventories is based on a comparison 

of whether the historical value of the inventories is greater than their estimated selling price less all the related 

costs to be incurred in the selling process. In addition, a detailed physical examination and quality tests are 

also carried out in order to obtain an indication of realisable values. Once the carrying amount of the inventories 

is higher than their net realisable values (“NRV”), a write–down will be made so that the carrying amount of 

inventories would not be higher than their NRV. As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of inventories, 

net of provision for inventory HK$252,919,000 (2021: HK$14,919,000), was approximately HK$380,461,000 

(2021: HK$455,082,000).

(B) IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group considers the ECLs of trade receivables are based on management’s estimate of the lifetime 

expected credit losses which is taking into account the credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade 

receivables, customers’ repayment history, customers’ financial position and an assessment of both the current 

and forecast general economic conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of management judgement.

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast general economic conditions. 

The information about the ECLs and the Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 3.1(c) and 16 

respectively. If the financial condition of the customers or the forecast economic conditions were to deteriorate, 

actual loss allowance would be higher than estimated.

As at 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables, net of loss allowance, was HK$2,530,000 

(2021: HK$104,948,000).
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(C) PROVISION FOR ONEROUS CONTRACTS

The Group recognises provision for onerous contracts in relation to several outstanding unfulfilled purchase 

orders placed to its major supplier. The provision is based on the difference between the economic benefits of 

the ordered products expected to be received by the group and the purchase price and quantities committed 

in the purchase orders. The benefits of the ordered products expected to be received are estimated by the 

management’s assessment based on the latest market price and subsequent selling price of the ordered 

products availabe to the management. The amount of provision could change significantly as a result of 

changes in market price and trend.

As at 31 December 2022, provision for onerous contracts amounted to approximately HK$93,197,000 (2021: 

Nil).

(D) USEFUL LIVES OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation charges for the Group’s property, 

plant and equipment. These estimates are based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives of 

property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charges 

where useful lives are different to those previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically 

obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated 

useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable lives of the Group’s property, plant and 

equipment and therefore the depreciation in the future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2022 was approximately 

HK$28,898,000 (2021: HK$30,086,000)

(E) IMPAIRMENT OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In 

determining whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make estimation, particularly 

in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether 

the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the 

net present value of future cash flows which are estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and 

(3) the appropriate key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow 

projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 

individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the assets 

belongs. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash 

flow projections, could materially affect the recoverable amounts.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31 December 2022 was approximately 

HK$28,898,000 (2021: HK$30,086,000).

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(A) REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS15 represents the sale value of health–care 

products and electronic components supplied to customers, which is recognised at point in time.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(B) SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on internal reports reviewed by the chief operating 

decision makers, which are the executive directors of the Company, for the purpose of allocating resources 

to the segments and to assess their performance which focus on the sale of different types of products from 

different business lines.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable and operating segments have been identified as follows:

(i) Health–care products: sale of health–care products (including Chinese herbal medicines, skin–care and 

other health–care products); and

(ii) Electronic component products: sale of information technology components products (including central 

processing unit and semi–conductors).

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers, net of rebates and discounts 

and results by segment:

Health–care 

products

Electronic 

components 

products Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2022

Segment revenue 9,482 1,952,222 1,961,704

Cost of sales (9,215) (1,876,007) (1,885,222)

   

Segment results 267 76,215 76,482

Health–care 

products

Electronic 

components 

products Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Year ended 31 December 2021

Segment revenue 98,129 185,269 283,398

Cost of sales (96,392) (170,968) (267,360)

   

Segment results 1,737 14,301 16,038
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(B) SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Segment results 76,482 16,038

Unallocated

Other income 452 119

Other (losses)/gains, net (308,176) 4,137

Reversal of loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade  

receivables, net 16,928 –

Selling and distribution expenses (166) (158)

Administrative expenses (19,189) (20,516)

Finance costs (34) (508)

Loss before income tax (233,703) (888)

Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers. There were no inter–segment 

sales during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022.

Segment result during the year represents the gross profit of each segment without allocation of other income. 

other (losses)/gains, net, movements of loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivable, net 

selling and distribution expenses, administrative expenses and finance costs. This is the measure reported 

to the Group’s chief operating decision makers for the purposes of resource allocation and performance 

assessment.

SEGMENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

No segment assets and segment liabilities and other segment information are presented as such amounts 

are not reviewed by the Group’s chief operating decision makers for the purpose of resource allocation and 

performance assessment or otherwise regularly provided to the Group’s chief operating decision makers.
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5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

No geographical segment information is presented as the Group’s revenue is all derived from Hong Kong based on 

the location of goods delivered for control passed to the customers. 

The Group’s non–current assets other than financial instruments by geographical locations, which are determined by 

the geographical locations in which the asset is located in the case of property, plant and equipment is as follows: 

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

 

Non–current assets

Hong Kong 28,898 30,086

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or more of total revenue of the Group, is set out 

below:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Sale of health–care products

Customer A N/A 60,948

Customer B N/A 27,315

Sale of electronic components products

Customer C 812,447 14,352

Customer D 521,897 63,793

Customer E 298,753 –
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6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Auditor’s remuneration 2,100 1,340

Cost of inventories sold (Note 15) 1,885,222 267,360

Employee benefit expense (Note 9) 9,390 12,558

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 14) 2,434 2,436

Building management fee, rent and rates 217 218

Transportation expenses 34 129

Legal and professional fee 2,897 1,180

Insurance expense 450 631

Office expense 236 422

Consultancy fee 935 815

Others 662 945

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and  

administrative expenses 1,904,577 288,034

7 OTHER INCOME

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Government grants (Note) 352 –

Interest income from bank deposits 1 –

Interest income from loan receivables 99 119

452 119

Note:  In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti–

epidemic Fund, set up by the HKSAR Government. The purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to enterprise 

to retain their employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group is required 

not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees. All 

the conditions attached to the grants had been complied by the Group before year ended 31 December 2021.
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8 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Provision for inventory (Note 15) (238,000) (11,419)

Gain on derecognition of right–of–use assets and lease liabilities  

arising from early termination of lease (Note 14) 7 –

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 26) 21,945 14,296

Exchange gain, net 1,069 1,260

Provision for onerous contracts (Note 19) (93,197) –

(308,176) 4,137

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 9,186 11,541

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 204 258

Equity–settled share–based payments (Note 24) – 759

Total employee benefit expense 9,390 12,558

Note:

Contributions to defined contribution plans vest immediately, there is no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group to 

reduce the existing level of contributions.

Total employee benefit expense includes directors’ emoluments as disclosed in Note 31(A).
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 

Among the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2021: two) were the directors of the 

Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 31(A).

The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other three individuals (2021: three individuals) are as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Wages and salaries 2,578 3,291

Pension costs – defined contribution plans 54 54

2,632 3,345

The emoluments of remaining three individuals (2021: three individuals) fell within the following bands:

2022 2021

Nil to HK$1,000,000 2 1

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 2

10 FINANCE COSTS

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest expenses on:

– Bank loans 3 458

– Lease liabilities 31 50

34 508
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11 INCOME TAX

(I) HONG KONG PROFITS TAX

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit. No provision 

for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the Company and the subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong 

as they have no assessable profits or sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against the estimated 

assessable profits for the current and prior years.

(II) PRC ENTERPRISE INCOME TAX

The subsidiaries established in the PRC are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) rate of 25% (2021: 

25%) during the year.

No provision for PRC EIT has been made as the subsidiaries established in the PRC have estimated tax losses 

for both current and prior years.

(III) INCOME TAX FROM OTHER TAX JURISDICTIONS

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations, the Group is not subject to income tax in the jurisdictions of 

the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The taxation for the year is reconciled to loss per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (233,703) (888)

Tax expenses at the applicable income tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) (38,561) (146)

Tax effect of different income tax rates in other jurisdictions – (1)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 15,671 2,121

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (6,340) (2,928)

Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised 38,933 87

Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 1,056 1,996

Tax effect of tax loss utilised (10,759) (1,129)

Income tax for the year – –

Note:

(a) The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of approximately HK$64,046,000 (2021: HK$115,062,000) 

in respect of unutilised tax losses amounting to approximately HK$388,157,000 (2021: HK$697,344,000) that can be 

carried forward against future taxable income without expiry dates due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. 

Other temporary differences are not material.
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12 DIVIDEND

The board of directors of the Company does not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of the years 

ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

13 LOSS PER SHARE

(A) BASIC

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company 

and the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company (233,703) (888)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  

basic loss per share (in thousands) 1,694,450 1,693,010

(B) DILUTED

Diluted loss per share is the same amount as the basic loss per share for both years ended 31 December 2022 

and 2021 because the exercise of the outstanding share options would be anti–dilutive.
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Properties 

leased for 

own use 

(Note (a))

Leasehold 

land and 

buildings 

(Note (c))
Leasehold 

improvements

Fixtures 

and office 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Cost

At 1 January 2021 1,422 29,929 3,183 40 34,574

Additions – – – 9 9

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 1,422 29,929 3,183 49 34,583

Additions 1,419 – – – 1,419

Derecognition arising from early  

termination of lease contract (1,422) – – – (1,422)

Additions – – – 4 4

At 31 December 2022 1,419 29,929 3,183 53 34,584

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2021 59 1,348 636 18 2,061

Charge for the year 711 1,079 637 9 2,436

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 770 2,427 1,273 27 4,497

Charge for the year 711 1,078 636 9 2,434

Derecognition arising from early  

termination of lease contract (1,245) –  –  – (1,245)

At 31 December 2022 236 3,505 1,909 36 5,686

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2022 1,183 26,424 1,274 17 28,898

At 31 December 2021 652 27,502 1,910 22 30,086
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14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

The analysis of the net carrying amount of right–of–use assets by class of underlying asset is as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Net carrying amount of right–of–use assets

Properties leased for own use 1,183 652

The analysis of the expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss as follows:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation charges of right–of–use assets

Properties leased for own use 711 711

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Other items of (expenses)/income

Interest expense on lease liabilities (31) (50)

Gain on derecognition from early termination of lease (Note (b)) 7 –

Note:

(a) The Group has obtained the right to use properties as office through tenancy agreements. Except for the early terminated 

leases as mentioned in Note (b) below, the leases typically run for an initial period for both years.

(b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, one of leases for the office occupied by the Group in Hong Kong for which the 

expiry was originally in 19 December 2022 was agreed to be early terminated by both the Group and relevant landlord. 

Accordingly, the recognised right–of–use assets and lease liabilities with the net carrying amount at the termination date of 

HK$177,000 and HK$184,000 respectively were derecognised, and the net amount of HK$7,000 was recognised in profit or 

loss during the year.

The recoverable amount of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been assessed by an independent firm of 

professional valuers. The recoverable amount is assessed based on fair value less costs of disposal by using direct 

comparison approach, based on actual sales transactions and under level 3 fair value measurement. No impairment has been 

provided as the recoverable amount of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings was higher than its carrying amount as at 31 

December 2022.

(c) At 31 December 2021, the land and buildings, which are used for warehouses, with net carrying amount of HK$27,502,000 

(2022: HK$nil), have been pledged to secure the banking facilities as set out in Note 22.

(d) Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities and total cash outflow for leases are set out in Notes 21 and 25 respectively.
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15 INVENTORIES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Finished goods for resale 380,461 455,082

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s inventories were stated at the lower of cost or NRV.

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in “cost of sales” amounted to HK$1,885,222,000 

(2021: HK$267,360,000). During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recognised provision for inventory 

amounting to HK$238,000,000 (2021: HK$11,419,000), which were included in “other (losses)/gains, net”.

Analysis of the provision for inventory is as below:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 14,919 3,500

Provision for the year 238,000 11,419

At 31 December 252,919 14,919

16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance (Note A) 2,530 104,948

Loan receivable (Note B) 17,700 30,000

Consideration receivable in relation to disposal of subsidiaries (Note 26) – 90,000

Prepayment for inventory purchase (Note C) 102,800 25,431

Other prepayments 233 435

Deposits 170 174

120,903 146,040

Total trade and other receivables 123,433 250,988

Less: Non-current loan receivable – (18,000)

Current portion 123,433 232,988

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2022
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(A) TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group generally grants credit periods ranging from 60 days to 120 days (2021: 60 to 120 days) to its customers. Before 
accepting any new customer upon receipt of partial prepayment in advance, the Group internally assesses the potential 
customer’s credit quality and define an appropriate credit limit. Management closely monitors the credit quality and follow-up 
action is taken if overdue debts are noted. Further details on the Group’s credit policy on trade and other receivables are set 
out in Note 3.1(C).

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, and net of loss allowance at the end of 
each reporting period:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days – –

31 to 90 days – –

91 to 180 days 2,530 28,848

181 to 365 days – 36,493

Over 1 year – 39,607

2,530 104,948

(B) LOAN RECEIVABLE

The loan receivable from former joint venture company, which is secured by the corporate guarantee executed by the 
current ultimate shareholder of such joint venture company, with an interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 0.33% per annum and 
repayable by September 2023. 

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to loan receivables for which there was no recent history of default 
and past due amounts. As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

(C) PREPAYMENT FOR INVENTORY PURCHASE

The balance of prepayment mainly represents several non-refundable deposits placed with a supplier (“Supplier”), the 
largest supplier of the Group’s electronic component business during the year ended 31 December 2022. For each individual 
purchase order placed with the Supplier, the Group was required to pay (i) 20% of the purchase price of the products within 
three business days after each purchase order is placed; and (ii) the remaining balance of the purchase price prior to the 
delivery of the relevant products. The purchase price and purchase quantities were committed in each individual purchase 
order and the Group has an unconditional purchase obligation to execute the purchase orders or otherwise the prepayments 
placed with the Supplier would be up held and forfeited.
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (CONTINUED)

(C) PREPAYMENT FOR INVENTORY PURCHASE (CONTINUED)

The prepayments are carried at cost and is expected to be recovered within one year. The management compares the unit 
price of the above non-cancellable purchase orders so committed against the subsequent market price and trend of the 
ordered electronic components and made a provision for onerous contracts amounting to HK$93,197,000 (2021:HK$Nil), 
which were included in “other (losses)/gain, net”, for the cases that the unavoidable cost to fulfill the obligations under 
purchase orders exceeds the expected economic benefits to be received from the contracts.

As at 31 December 2022, included in trade and other receivables is the significant balances of HK$26,724,000 
(2021: HK$120,000,000), HK$96,305,000 (2021: HK$74,321,000) and HK$Nil (2021: HK$39,763,000) denominated 
in RMB, USD and CAD respectively which is a foreign currency, other than functional currencies of entities within the 

Group.

17 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents comprises cash at banks. As at 31 December 2022, included 

in cash and cash equivalents is a balance of HK$30,000 (2021: HK$174,000) denominated in United States dollars 

which is a foreign currency, other than functional currencies of entities within the Group.

18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Trade payables – 50,439

Other payables

– Accrued expenses 3,254 3,609

– Others 91 214

3,345 3,823

Total trade and other payables 3,345 54,262

The Group normally receives credit terms of 90 to 150 days from its suppliers.
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18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice date, at the end of each reporting period:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 30 days – 5,652

31 to 90 days – –

91 to 180 days – 23,200

181 to 365 days – 21,587

– 50,439

As at 31 December 2022, included in trade and other payables is the balances of HK$9,000 (2021: HK$28,863,000) 

and HK$Nil (2021: HK$22,065,000) denominated in USD and CAD respectively which is a foreign currency, other 

than functional currencies of entities within the Group.

19 PROVISION

The provision was made for onerous contracts for purchasing electronic components. As detailed in note 16 to the 

consolidated financial statements, the Group entered several purchase contracts with the Supplier for purchasing 

electronic components which the Group is obliged to purchase an agreed quantity of electronic components at 

a pre-determined unit price. Given the market price of these ordered electronic components decreased after the 

placement of relevant the purchase orders, the management of the Group considers onerous contracts existed at the 

end of the reporting period and estimates the unavoidable cost of meeting the obligations will exceed the economic 

benefits expected to be received by the Group upon executing these purchase contracts which are expected to 

be completed within one year. The economic benefits expected to be received represents the management’s best 

estimate by reference to the market price and trend of the ordered electronic components.

Movements of the provision under onerous contracts is as follows:

HK$’000

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 –

Provision for the year 93,197

At 31 December 2022 93,197
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20 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Receipts in advance regarding:

– Sale of electronic components products – 6,000

Note:

(a) Typical payment practice

When the Group receives a deposit from customers before supply and delivery of promised goods of electronic components 

products, which depends on the specific terms of sales and concern of new customer, this will give rise to contract liabilities 

at the start of contract. Payments are usually based on billing schedule.

(b) Movements in contract liabilities

Electronic components products

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 6,000 –

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during  

the year that was included in contract liabilities at the begining of the year (6,000) –

Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving deposits from  

customers during the year in respect of supply of products in progress – 6,000

At 31 December – 6,000

All contracts in respect of sale of electronic components products are for periods of one year or less. As the Group has 

applied the practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not 

disclosed.
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21 LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the 

reporting period.

2022 2021

Present 

value of the 

lease 

payments

Total 

lease 

payments

Present 

value of the 

lease

payments

Total 

lease 

payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within 1 year 700 744 666 682

After 1 year but within 2 years 487 496 – –

1,187 1,240 666 682

Less: total future interest expenses (53) (16)

1,187 666

The effective interest rate applied to lease liabilities is 5% (2021: 4.75%).

22 BANK BORROWINGS

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured bank borrowings

– Trade loans – 7,165

As at 31 December 2021, all the bank borrowings are secured by the banking facilities as mentioned below and 

bear variable interest rate at LIBOR plus a margin ranging from 2% to 2.4% per annum and all the Group’s bank 

borrowings were repayable within 3 months.
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22 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the effective interest expenses in respect of above loans were ranging from 

2.20% to 2.72% per annum.

As at 31 December 2021, the banking facilities of approximately HK$27,700,000 were secured by the leasehold land 

and buildings held by the Group, with the carrying amount of HK$27,502,000 (see note 14), and the cross corporate 

guarantee executed by the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, included in the bank borrowings is the balance of HK$7,165,000 denominated in USD 

which is a foreign currency other than functional currencies of entities within the Group.

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(A) SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 

shares

Nominal 

value

(thousands) HK$’000

Ordinary shares

Authorised: @ HK$0.04 each

As at 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021,  

1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 5,000,000 200,000

Number of 

shares

Share 

capital

(thousands) HK$’000

Issued and fully paid: @ HK$0.04 each

As at 1 January 2021 1,692,760 67,710

Shares issued under share option scheme (Note C) 1,690 68

As at 31 December 2021, 1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022 1,694,450 67,778
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23 SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(B) NATURE AND PURPOSE OF RESERVES 

(I) SHARE PREMIUM

The application of the share premium account is governed by the Company’s Articles of Association and 

the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account may be 

applied in making distributions or paying dividends to shareholders, provided that immediately following 

the date on which distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the Company will be able to pay its 

debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(II) CAPITAL RESERVE

Capital reserve represents (i) an amount of HK$5,002,000 arising from the difference between the 

nominal amount of the shares issued by the Company and the aggregate amount of the paid-in capital of 

subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the Group’s restructuring in preparation for the listing of the Company’s 

shares; (ii) deemed capital contribution from a shareholder amounting to HK$3,551,000 and (iii) the 

difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value paid 

to acquire additional equity interest in subsidiaries originally held by non-controlling shareholders.

(III) EXCHANGE RESERVE

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the 

financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting 

policy set out in Notes 2.5(c) and (d).

(IV) SHARE OPTION RESERVE

The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share 

options granted to the eligible participants under the share option scheme of the Company recognised in 

accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.18.

(C) SHARES ISSUED UNDER SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the year ended 31 December 2021, options were exercised to subscribe for 1,690,000 ordinary shares 

of the Company at a total cash consideration of HK$205,000.
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24 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 9 June 

2014 for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors, eligible employees, suppliers, customers and 

consultants. Under the Scheme, the Board of Directors of the Company may grant options to eligible employees, 

including directors of the Company and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company. In addition, the 

Company may, from time to time, grant share options to third parties for settlement in respect of goods or services 

provided to the Group.

As at 31 December 2022, the number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained 

outstanding under the scheme was 52,465,000 (2021: 69,390,000), representing 3.1% (2021: 4.1%) of the shares 

of the Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted under 

the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without 

prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which 

options granted and may be granted to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of 

the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders.

The options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of the share options or from the specific date of 
the start of the exercisable period as stated below up to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant. The exercise 
price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of 
the Company’s shares on the date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of the shares for the five business days 
immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

(a) The following table discloses movements of the Company’s outstanding share options held by directors, 
suppliers and customers during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021:

2022

Number of share options (thousands)

Type of participates Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price

Outstanding at 
1 January 

2022

Lapsed
during 

the year

Outstanding at 
31 December 

2022
HK$

A supplier 20 May 2019 20 May 2019 to 19 May 2022 0.25 16,925 (16,925) –

Former executive directors (note) 12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 0.121 16,925 – 16,925
12 June 2020 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 0.121 16,925 – 16,925

Non-executive  
directors

12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 0.121 845 – 845
12 June 2020 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 0.121 845 – 845

A shareholder of  
one customer

3 July 2020 3 July 2020 to 2 July 2025 0.127 8,463 – 8,463
3 July 2020 3 July 2021 to 2 July 2025 0.127 8,462 – 8,462

69,390 (16,925) 52,465

Note:  Share options granted to Mr. Xu Keli (options granted:16,925,000, resigned as an executive director of the Company 

effective from 30 June 2022) and Mr. Lam Hin Chi (options granted: 16,925,000, resigned as an executive director of 

the Company effective from 30 April 2022) would be lapsed on 30 April 2023 and 30 June 2023 respectively if these 

options granted are not exercised at these dates.
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24 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(a) The following table discloses movements of the Company’s outstanding share options held by directors, 
suppliers and customers during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021: (Continued)

2021

Number of share options (thousands)

Type of participates Date of grant Exercise period Exercise price

Outstanding at 
1 January 

2021

Exercised
during 

the year

Outstanding at 
31 December 

2021
HK$

A supplier 20 May 2019 20 May 2019 to 19 May 2022 0.25 16,925 – 16,925

Executive directors 12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 0.121 16,925 – 16,925
12 June 2020 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 0.121 16,925 – 16,925

Non-executive  
directors

12 June 2020 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2025 0.121 1,690 (845) 845
12 June 2020 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2025 0.121 1,690 (845) 845

A shareholder of  
one customer

3 July 2020 3 July 2020 to 2 July 2025 0.127 8,463 – 8,463
3 July 2020 3 July 2021 to 2 July 2025 0.127 8,462 – 8,462

71,080 (1,690) 69,390

(b) Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are 

as follows:

2022 2021

Average 

exercise price 

in HK$ per 

share option

Number of 

share options 

(thousands)

Average 

exercise price 

in HK$ per 

share option

Number of 

share options 

(thousands)

At 1 January 0.154 69,390 0.153 71,080

Lapsed 0.250 (16,925) – –

Exercised – – 0.121 (1,690)

At 31 December 0.123 52,465 0.154 69,390

Exercisable at the end of the period 0.123 52,465 0.154 69,390

In respect of the share options exercised during the year ended 31 December 2021, the weighted average 

share price of the Company at the date of exercise was HK$0.086.
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24 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Share options at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise price:

Exercise 
price in HK$ 

per share 
option

Number of share options 
(thousands)

Weighted average remaining 
contractual life (years)

2022 2021 2022 2021

20 May 2019 0.250 – 16,925 – 0.39
12 June 2020 0.121 1,690 35,540 2.48 3.48
12 June 2020 0.121 16,925 – 0.3 N/A
12 June 2020 0.121 16,925 – 0.5 N/A
3 July 2020 0.127 16,925 16,925 2.48 3.48

(d) The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows:

Number of 
options 

(thousands) Vesting conditions
Contractual life 

of options

Options granted to a supplier:
– on 20 May 2019 16,925 Exercisable at the date of grant 3 years

Options granted to  
executive directors:
– on 12 June 2020 16,925 Specific period from the date of  

grant to the start of exercisable 
period as stated in Note 24(a) above

5 years

– on 12 June 2020 16,925 Specific period from the date of  
grant to the start of exercisable 
period as stated in Note 24(a) above

4 years

Options granted to  
non-executive directors:
– on 12 June 2020 1,690 Specific period from the date of  

grant to the start of exercisable 
period as stated in Note 24(a) above

5 years

– on 12 June 2020 1,690 Specific period from the date of  
grant to the start of exercisable 
period as stated in Note 24(a) above

4 years

Options granted to a 
shareholder of one customer:
– on 3 July 2020 8,463 Exercisable at the date of grant 5 years
– on 3 July 2020 8,462 One year from the date of grant 4 years

71,080
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24 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(e) The fair values for the share options granted were calculated using the Binomial model. The inputs into the 

model were as follows:

Grant date 3 July 2020 12 June 2020 20 May 2019

Fair value per option on grant date HK$0.0671/ HK$0.0646/ HK$0.0629
HK$0.083 HK$0.0816

Share price on grant date HK$0.123 HK$0.121 HK$0.250
Exercise price HK$0.127 HK$0.121 HK$0.250
Expected volatility 136.554% 135.911% 67.681%
Expected life 5 years 5.0521 years 3 years
Risk-free rate 0.3420% 0.4103% 1.6780%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 1.2195%
Early exercise multiple
– Directors N/A 2.8X N/A
– A supplier N/A N/A 1.35X
– A shareholder of one customer 2.2X N/A N/A

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the Company’s share prices over the 

previous year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, 

for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Binomial model has been used to estimate the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions 

used in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the directors’ best estimate. Changes in 

variables and assumptions may result in changes in the fair value of the options.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, in accordance with the vesting period, the share-based payment 

expenses of approximately HK$1,110,000 in relation to share options granted by the Company in 2020, of 

which amount of HK$759,000 and HK$351,000 was attributable to directors of the Company and a shareholder 

of one customer respectively, were recognised in profit or loss and included in “administrative expenses”.
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25 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

This section sets out an analysis of liabilities arising from financing activities and the movements in liabilities arising 
from financing activities for each of the years presented.

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease liabilities 1,187 666
Borrowings – repayable within one year and interest bearing at variable 

interest rates – 7,165

1,187 7,831

Lease 
liabilities

Bank 
borrowings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2021 1,360 22,705 24,065

Cash flows:
Interest paid on bank borrowings – (480) (480)
Proceeds from bank borrowings – 40,440 40,440
Repayments of bank borrowings – (55,980) (55,980)
Principal element of lease payments paid (694) – (694)
Interest element of lease payments paid (50) – (50)

(744) (16,020) (16,764)

Other changes:
Change of accrued interests – 22 22
Interest expenses (Note 10) 50 458 508

50 480 530

At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 666 7,165 7,831

Cash flows:
Interest paid on bank borrowings – (3) (3)
Repayments of bank borrowings – (7,165) (7,165)
Decrease in lease liabilities from early termination  

of lease (184) – (184)
Increase in lease liabilities from new leases 1,419 – 1,419
Principal element of lease payments paid (714) – (714)
Interest element of lease payments paid (31) – (31)

490 (7,168) (6,678)

Other changes:
Interest expenses (Note 10) 31 3 34

At 31 December 2022 1,187 – 1,187
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26 DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 November 2022, the Group disposed of its entire interests in Union Field Assets Limited, a company 

incorporated in the BVI, and its subsidiary (collectively the “Union Field Group”) to an independent third party 

purchaser. The principal activity of Union Field Group is trading of health-care products. The total consideration of the 

disposal was HK$1.

HK$’000

The assets and liabilities of Union Field Group:
Trade and other receivables 66
Cash and cash equivalents 54
Trade and other payables (22,065)

Net liabilities disposed of (21,945)

Gain on disposal of Union Field Group:
Cash consideration received –
Net liabilities disposed of 21,945

Gain on disposal 21,945

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration –*

Net cash outflow arising from disposal of Union Field Group:
Cash consideration received during the year –*
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (54)

(54)

*　Amount less than HK$1,000
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26 DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

On 6 January 2021, the Group disposed of its entire interests in Top Nova, a company incorporated in the BVI, and 

its subsidiaries and interests in a joint venture (collectively the “Top Nova Group”) to an independent third party 

purchaser. The principal activity of Top Nova Group is investment holding in joint venture. The total consideration 

of the disposal was RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to HK$130,570,000) of which the amount of RMB35,000,000 

(equivalent to HK$42,000,000) was received during the year ended 31 December 2021, and the remaining 

consideration of RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to HK$90,000,000) have yet to be settled as at 31 December 2021, 

and was recorded in other receivables (Note 17). Subsequent to year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date 

of approval of these consolidated financial statements, the consideration receivable of RMB75,000,000 (equivalent to 

HK$90,000,000) was fully settled.

HK$’000

The assets and liabilities of Top Nova Group:
Interests in a joint venture 118,477
Other receivables 7
Cash and cash equivalents 199
Other payables and accruals (401)

Net assets disposed of 118,282

Gain on disposal of Top Nova Group:
Cash consideration received and receivable 130,570
Net assets disposed of (118,282)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of net assets of  

disposed group reclassified from equity to profit or loss 3,078
Direct costs relating to the disposal (1,070)

Gain on disposal 14,296

Total consideration satisfied by:
Cash consideration received during the year ended 31 December 2021 42,000
Cash consideration receivable 90,000
Exchange difference (1,430)

130,570

Net cash inflow arising from disposal of Top Nova Group:
Cash consideration received during the year ended 31 December 2021 42,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (199)
Direct costs relating to the disposal (1,070)

40,731
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27 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As of 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group did not have any capital commitments.

28 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Key management compensation

Key management includes directors (executive and non-executive) and senior management. The compensation paid 

or payable to key management for employee services during the year was shown below:

2022 2021

HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 5,625 6,781

Share options granted to directors – 759

Pension costs-defined contribution plans 63 72

5,688 7,612

Total remuneration is included in “employee benefit expense” as disclosed in Note 9.



Qianhai Health Holdings Limited  •  Annual Report 2022122

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

29 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place of 
incorporation 
and operation

Issued and fully 
paid share capital

Proportion of 
ownership 

interest held 
by the Company Principal activities

2022 2021 2022 2021

Cheerwin Success Trading Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of health-care 
products and electronic 
components

Hang Fat Ginseng Global Importer 
Limited

Hong Kong –* HK$10,000 –* 100% Trading of health-care 
products

Cheerwin Success Investment 
Limited

Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100% – Trading of electronic 
components

Qianhai Health Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100% – Trading of health-care 
products

Hang Fat Health Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 – 100% – Trading of health-care 
products

志成匯富(深圳)商貿有限公司 China HK$10,000,000 HK$100,000 100% 100% Trading of health-care 
products and electronic 
components

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally 

affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors 

of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

* Disposed in 2022
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30 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY

(A) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2,022 2021
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 426,719 615,315

Current assets
Other receivables 233 233
Cash and cash equivalents 395 1,255

Total current assets 628 1,488

Total assets 427,347 616,803

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 67,778 67,778
Reserves 356,564 546,407

Total equity 424,342 614,185

Current liabilities
Other payables 3,005 2,618

Total liabilities 3,005 2,618

Total equity and liabilities 427,347 616,803
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30 FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(B) MOVEMENT OF RESERVES:

Share 

premium

Share 

options 

reserve

Retained 

profits Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 January 2021 – 3,944 547,032 550,976

Loss and total comprehensive loss  

for the year – – (5,816) (5,816)

Shares issued under share option scheme

– gross proceeds 137 – – 137

– transfer from share option reserve 109 (109) – –

Equity-settled share-based payments – 1,110 – 1,110

At 31 December 2021 and  

1 January 2022 246 4,945 541,216 546,407

Loss and total comprehensive loss  

for the year – – (189,843) (189,843)

Lapse of share options – (1,064) 1,064 –

At 31 December 2022 246 3,881 352,437 356,564
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31 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS

(A) DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS

The remuneration of the director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out 

below:

Name Fees Salary

Allowances 

and benefits 

in kinds

Employer’s 

contribution to a 

retirement benefit 

scheme

Equity-settled

share-based 

payments Total

(Note (vii)) (Note (viii))
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors

Mr. Chen Li Kuang (Note (iv)) – 462 – – – 462

Mr. Lam Hin Chi (Note (v)) – 660 158 6 – 824

Mr. Xu Keli (Note (vi)) – 658 – – – 658

Non-executive directors

Mr. Huang Guanchao – – – – – –

Mr. Lim Tzea 195 – – – – 195

Mr. Chen Kaiben (Note (i)) – – – – – –

Mr. Chen Qi (Note (i)) – – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. Li Wei 180 – – – – 180

Mr. Leung Chun Tung (Note (iii)) 150 – – – – 150

Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl 180 – – – – 180

Total 705 1,780 158 6 – 2,649
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31 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(A) DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive for the year ended 31 December 2021 is set out 
below:

Name Fees Salary

Allowances 
and benefits 

in kinds

Employer’s 
contribution to a 

retirement benefit 
scheme

Equity-settled
share-based 

payments Total
(Note (vii)) (Note (viii))

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Executive directors
Mr. Lam Hin Chi (Note (v)) – 1,228 436 18 346 2,028

Mr. Xu Keli (Note (vi)) – 1,092 – – 345 1,437

Non-executive directors
Mr. Huang Guanchao – – – – 34 34
Mr. Lim Tzea 195 – – – 34 229
Mr. Chen Kaiben (Note (i)) – – – – – –
Mr. Chen Qi (Note (i)) – – – – – –

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Li Wei 180 – – – – 180
Mr. Wu Wai Leung Danny (Note (ii)) 180 – – – – 180
Mr. Yuen Chee Lap Carl 180 – – – – 180

Total 735 2,320 436 18 759 4,268

Note:

(i) The directors were appointed on 3 September 2021.

(ii) The directors resigned on 31 December 2021.

(iii) The director was appointed on 1 March 2022.

(iv) The director was appointed on 1 April 2022.

(v) The director resigned on 30 April 2022.

(vi) The director resigned on 30 June 2022.

(vii) Salary paid to a director is generally an emolument paid or receivable in respect of that person’s other services in 
connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiary undertakings. Fees paid to directors 
were for their services as directors of the Company.

(viii) These include housing allowances and estimated money value of other non-cash benefits: car, insurance premium and 
club membership.

(ix) During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the 
Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. In addition, except 
for Chen Kaiben and Chen Qi as disclosed above, none of the directors of the company has waived any remuneration 
for both years.
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31 BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

(B) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS AND TERMINATION BENEFITS

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits during the year 

(2021: nil).

(C) CONSIDERATION PROVIDED TO THIRD PARTIES FOR MAKING AVAILABLE DIRECTORS’ 
SERVICES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company did not pay consideration to any third parties for 

making available directors’ services (2021: nil).

(D) INFORMATION ABOUT LOANS, QUASI-LOANS AND OTHER DEALINGS IN FAVOUR OF 
DIRECTORS, CONTROLLED BODIES CORPORATE BY AND CONNECTED ENTITIES WITH 
SUCH DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2022, there were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of the directors, 

controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors (2021: Nil).

(E) DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which 

the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or 

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year (2021: Nil).
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Year ended 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Results
Revenue 1,961,704 283,398 760,721 587,808 78,047

(Loss)/profit before income tax 1 (233,703) (888) (804) 26,715 (5,016)
Income tax credit – – – – 10,049

(Loss)/profit for the year (233,703) (888) (804) 26,715 5,033

Attributable to:
– Owners of the Company (233,703) (888) (804) 26,715 5,071
– Non-controlling interests – – – – (38)

(233,703) (888) (804) 26,715 5,033

As at 31 December
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets and liabilities
Total assets 1 534,434 738,626 735,471 786,090 692,532
Total liabilities 1 (97,729) (68,093) (62,285) (123,677) (56,975)

Net assets 436,705 670,533 673,186 662,413 635,557

Equity attributable to owners of 
the Company 436,705 670,533 673,186 662,413 635,557

Non-controlling interests – – – – –

436,705 670,533 673,186 662,413 635,557

Note:

1. As a result of the adoption of HKFRS 16, Leases, with effect from 1 January 2019, the Group changed its accounting policies in 

respect of the lessee accounting model. In accordance with the transitional provisions of the standard, the changes in accounting 

policies were adopted by way of opening balance adjustments to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 1 January 

2019. After initial recognition of these assets and liabilities, the Group as a lessee is required to recognise interest expense accrued 

on the outstanding balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the previous policy of 

recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Figures in years earlier than 

2019 are stated in accordance with the policies applicable in those years.

Five-year Financial Summary
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